
 

 
 

 

AGENDA 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission Regular Meeting  

Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Conference Room C – Administrative 

Offices 

Monday, November 21, 2016 

9:00 a.m. 

 

* NOTE TO ALL PUBLI C ATTENDEES: 
 

The public may speak on any item on the agenda. There are request cards located 

outside the public seating area.  These cards must be completed and presented to the 

Recording Secretary prior to the item being heard. Your comments will be addressed 

prior to the Airport Commission’s discussion and you will have 5 minutes to address the 

Airport Commission. Thank you for your attention. 

 

I . CALL TO ORDER: 

 

I I . CONSENT AGENDA: 

 

A. Approval of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission September 8, 

2016 Regular Meeting Minutes (document) 
 

I I I . PRESENTATIONS:  

 

A.      Retail Concessions and Parking Program Updates 

 

IV. OLD BUSINESS:  None 

V. NEW BUSINESS:  

 

A. Acceptance of Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Financial Audit 

and Schedules of Expenditures for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2016 

and 2015, and Report of Independent Auditor (document) 

B. Approval of Lease Terms for Alamo/National Rental Car Concessions 

Agreement Amendment # 1 and Associated Construction Project Funding 

(document) 

C. Approval of Lease Terms/Agreement for CenterPoint Properties Ground 

Lease (document) 

 



 

GREENVILLE-SPARTANBURG AIRPORT COMMISSION 

AGENDA Monday, November 21, 2016 

Page 2 

 

 

 

VI . PRESIDENT/CEO REPORT: 

 

A. Aviation Industry Update 

B. PRT Update 

C. Senator International Cargo Update 

D. Future Cargo Facility Requirements 

 

VI I . INFORMATION SECTION: 
(Staff presentations will not be made on these items. Staff will be available to 
address any questions the Commission may have.) 

 

A. September 2016 – Traffic Report (document) 

B. September 2016 – Financial Report (document) 

C. October 2016 – Development/Project Status Report (document) 

D. October 2016 – Communications Status Report (document) 

E. October 2016 – Commercial Business and Properties Report (document) 

F. October 2016 – OSHA Reportable Injury Report (document) 

G. Industry Presentation(s)/Article(s) of Interest (document) 

H. Potential I tems for the Next Regular Scheduled Commission Meeting:  

 

• Approval of Public Parking Recommendations 

 

VI I I . COMMISSION MEMBER REPORTS:  

IX. EXECUTIVE SESSION: 

The Airport Commission may hold an Executive Session for the purpose of 

receiving legal advice on various matters. 

 

X. ADJOURNMENT 

 

This agenda of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission is provided as a matter 
of convenience to the public. I t is not the official agenda. Although every effort is made 
to provide complete and accurate information to this agenda, The Airport Commission 
does not warrant or guarantee its accuracy or completeness for any purpose. The 
agenda is subject to change before or at the Airport Commission meeting. 



 

GREENVI LLE-SPARTANBURG AI RPORT COMMI SSI ON 
 

MI NUTES 
 

September 8, 2016 

The Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission met on September 8, 2016 at 9:00 a.m. in the 

Greenville-Spartanburg District Office Conference Room C located at 2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1, 

Greer, South Carolina 29651. The public and media were given proper notice of this meeting, 

under applicable law.  This was a regular, non-emergency meeting. 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:  Minor Shaw, Hank Ramella, Bill Barnet, and Doug Smith 

 

MEMBERS NOT PRESENT:  Leland Burch, Valerie Miller 

 

STAFF AND LEGAL COUNSEL PRESENT:  David Edwards, President/CEO; Kevin Howell, Vice 

President Operations/COO; Jack Murrin, Vice President Administration and Finance/CFO; Scott 

Carr, Vice President Commercial Business and Properties (Environs Area Administrator);  Nathan 

Garner, Director, Aviation Services;  Kelly Wiggs, Aviation Services Supervisor;  Betty O. Temple, 

WCSR;  Stefanie Hyder, Executive Assistant/Recording Secretary. 

GUESTS PRESENT:  John Mafera, McFarland Johnson;  Mike Darcangleo, AVCON, Inc.;  Herbert 

Judon, Augusta Regional Airport;  Morgan Arndt, WCSR. 

 

CALL TO ORDER:  Chair Minor Shaw called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. 

 

Mr. Edwards began the meeting with the President/CEO Report first.  

 

CONSENT AGENDA:  

A motion was made, seconded, and unanimous vote received to approve the regular meeting 

minutes from the July 11, 2016 Commission Meeting. 

PRESENTATI ONS:  

No presentations 

OLD BUSI NESS: 

A. Approval of TD Bank – GSP Line of Credit Form Loan Agreements 

At the last two Commission meetings, Staff discussed moving forward with changing the 

banking relationship from NBSC to TD Bank. At that t ime, the Commission authorized 

Management to move forward with working with legal counsel in preparing, negotiating, 

and finalizing all documents necessary to complete the banking relationship change and to 

enter into the Form of Note and Loan Agreement (collectively, the “Loan Agreements”).  



Mr. Jack Murrin, VP Administration & Finance/CFO, reported that Staff and legal counsel 

reached an agreement. There are no fiscal impacts.  

Mr. Jack Murrin recommended that the “Final Resolution Authorizing and Approving a Not to 

Exceed $25,000,000 Revolving Credit Facility Secured by the Revenues of the District and 

Authorizing the Execution and Delivery of Certain Documents in Connection Therewith,”  

authorizing management to enter into the Loan Agreements, be approved. Mrs. Betty 

Temple stated that copies of the Loan Agreements were made available for the public to 

review at the meeting and provided copies of both documents.   

There was a motion to approve the “Final Resolution Authorizing and Approving a Not to 

Exceed $25,000,000 Revolving Credit Facility Secured by the Revenues of the District and 

Authorizing the Execution and Delivery of Certain Documents in Connection Therewith” and 

the Note. The motion was seconded and unanimous vote was received. 

 

NEW BUSI NESS: 

A. Approval of Minimum Standards – Specialized Airport Service Operator 

(SASO)  for Commercial Air Carrier Line Maintenance 

Minimum standards are in place today, but the Airport District does not have a SASO 

specific to Commercial Air Carrier Line Maintenance.  

While the Airport District has two operators engaged in commercial air carrier line 

maintenance services at the Airport, there have been other companies that have expressed 

an interest in providing services as well.  

Mr. Scott Carr, VP of Commercial Business and Properties, introduced and referenced Exhibit 

A (Section R – Commercial Air Carrier Line Maintenance Services). Section R was developed 

and created as a SASO specific to Commercial Air Carrier Line Maintenance. The Minimum 

Standards are: 

(1) The SASO shall operate the service from a minimum of one thousand (1,000) square 

feet of space of the Airport. 

(2) The SASO shall provide not less than one (1) qualified and certified employee on duty 

either at the Airport or on call in accordance with the hours of operation. 

(3) The SASO shall have all of the necessary equipment and tools to work on commercial 

aircraft scheduled to the Airport. 

(4) The SASO shall have on-airport personnel from the hours 4:30 a.m. to midnight and be 

able to respond within 30 minutes of a call to the airport between the hours of midnight 

and 4:30 a.m. daily. 

These standards will help provide better customer service and ensure prompt service.  

Mr. Carr requested that the Airport Commission approve the Minimum Standards for SASO 

for Commercial Air Carrier Line Maintenance Services.  



There was a motion to approve the Minimum Standards for Specialized Airport Service 

Operator (SASO) for Commercial Air Carrier Line Maintenance Services. The motion was 

seconded and unanimous vote was received. 

 

B. Approval of Lease Terms/ Agreement for Michelin Hangar Facility 

At the July 2016 Board meeting, the Commission approved the construction of a Corporate 

Hangar Facility for Michelin.  Michelin currently leases hangar space from Stevens Aviation.  

Michelin is transitioning, however, to new aircraft with a wider wingspan and tail height and 

thus is in need of a facility that can accommodate the larger planes. 

Staff negotiated lease terms with Michelin for the corporate hangar. The lease terms include 

a base term of ten years with no option periods. The lease premises include an 18,000 sf 

hangar with an adjoining office space of approximately 3,000 sf. The init ial rental rate is 

$185,000 for year one and then adjusted annually by 3% . All FBO related service fees will 

be negotiated separately with the exception that in the first year Jet A fuel purchase is 

$.75/gallon plus Airport District fuel costs with a minimum purchase of 200,000 gallons. 

 

Mr. Carr requested that the Airport Commission (1) approve the lease agreement terms and 

(2) authorize the President/CEO to execute a lease agreement with Michelin. 

With regards to the time frame on the hangar, Mr. Kevin Howell noted that documents are 

close to being finalized. The District is getting ready for prequalification of contractors and is 

expected to take bids in October. The target completion date is July 2017. Michelin’s first 

new aircraft arrives in October 2016. The second aircraft is expected to arrive in the 

summer of 2017.  

 

There was a motion to approve the lease agreement terms and authorize the President/CEO 

to execute a lease agreement with Michelin. The motion was seconded and unanimous vote 

was received. 

 
C. Approval of Final Rankings for Professional Airport Planning Services 

The GSP Airport Master Plan is a FY2017 budgeted project. The previous master plan dates 

back to 1991. That master plan was updated in 1997 and again in 2003. FAA guidelines 

recommend an update about every ten years. 

Mr. Kevin Howell, VP of Operations/COO, stated Staff prepared a Request for Qualifications 

(RFQ) for Professional Airport Planning Services – Airport Master Plan. Following FAA 

protocol, this was a qualification based selection, not a priced selection. Submittals of 

Qualifications (SOQs) were received from seven prime firms on August 9, 2016.  

In Phase 1, the Evaluation/Selection Committee reviewed the SOQs and ranked them in 

accordance to evaluation criteria as outlined in the RFQ.  

In Phase 2, the firms were short-listed to three firms. Presentations and interviews among 

the three firms were held with the Evaluation/Selection Committee on August 24, 2016. The 



Evaluation/Selection Committee’s unanimous and final recommended ranking was: 1) 

McFarland Johnson, 2) Mead & Hunt, and 3) WSP/Parsons Brinckerhoff. McFarland Johnson 

will use AVCON, Inc. for the engineering components of the master plan and Wolpert for 

GIS. The master plan will fold together smaller plans such as Land Use Planning Study, 

Landscape Master Plan, Terminal Area Study, etc.  

The recommended ranking is: 1. McFarland Johnson, 2. WSP Parsons Brinckerhoff, and 3. 

Mead & Hunt. The plan is to establish fee and scope with McFarland Johnson. Staff 

surveyed other airports of the same size as GSP. FAA requires an independent fee review. 

The master plan shows up in the Airport’s Capital Improvement Plan for FAA Airport 

Improvement Program (AIP) entit lement reimbursement of next years’ program. The federal 

fiscal year 2017 AIP grant would cover 90%  of the master plan. 

Mr. Kevin Howell respectfully requested that the Airport Commission resolve to (1) approve 

the final rankings for Professional Airport Planning Services - Airport Master Plan and (2) 

authorize Staff to negotiate and finalize agreements with the highest ranked firm/ team and 

(3) authorize the President/CEO to execute all necessary documents.  

There was a motion to approve the final ranking for Professional Airport Planning Services - 

Airport Master Plan and (2) authorize Staff to negotiate and finalize agreements with the 

highest ranked firm/ team and (3) authorize the President/CEO to execute all necessary 

documents. The motion was seconded and unanimous vote was received.  

PRESI DENT/ CEO REPORT:  

Aviation I ndustry Update:  The industry did receive an AIP reauthorization through the 

end of September 2017. After the first of the year, Congress will likely re-engage in the 

discussion as to how the industry will move forward as it relates to continuing AIP and at 

what levels, along with whether or not there is going to be a passenger facility charge (PFC) 

increase.  

Airlines continue to have record profits. 

Tryon I nternational Equestrian Partnership:  Scott Carr and Holly Bridwell have 

negotiated and signed a partnership agreement between GSP and Tryon International 

Equestrian Center.  Pursuant to the terms of the partnership agreement, GSP will have a 

table at the main ring. GSP will also have its logo displayed on water trucks. Scott Carr said 

that GSP has the opportunity to run a 30-second commercial and various other audio 

announcements. Furthermore, GSP has a branded jump that will circulate between the main 

and secondary rings. GSP also has some social media engagement opportunities with the 

Equestrian Center. While GSP is not the exclusive airport partner, GSP has first right of 

refusal. The Equestrian Center agreed to have GSP install kiosks for customers to print 

boarding passes.  



The long-term vision is an Equine Importation Center. Scott Carr noted that the Tryon 

International Equestrian Center announced that in 2017 they will pursue the Pan American 

Equestrian Games to be held in Tryon. The 2018 FEI  World Equestrian Games are open for 

competit ion among various equestrian centers and Tryon International Equestrian submitted 

their bid last week.  GSP would have the opportunity to be the closest airport that could 

house the temporary quarantine facilit ies, if constructed. JFK, Miami, Chicago, and LAX are 

the only other locations that have quarantine facilit ies.  

Upstate Alliance Air Service Task Force:  As a member of the Upstate Alliance Executive 

Committee, Mr. Edwards indicated his involvement in recent discussions about making air 

service development more of a regional approach. As a result of these discussions, a new 

air service task force has been formally approved by the Board of Upstate Alliance.  

Commission on Accreditation for Law Enforcement Agencies, I nc. (CALEA) :  The 

GSP Police Department recently underwent the recertification process by CALEA, Inc. This 

revalidation occurs every three years. Both Mr. Edwards and Chair Minor Shaw had the 

opportunity to spend some time with the CALEA auditors of which they both received 

positive feedback about the GSP Police Department. The GSP Police Department is one of 

two in the state who have this accreditation. CALEA, Inc. scrutinizes records, materials, 

standard operating procedures, etc. to ensure those documents comply with CALEA, Inc. 

standards. The formal ceremony for reaccreditation is scheduled for the first week in 

November in Charleston, SC.  

Parking Rates:  Charlotte Douglas International Airport just raised their parking rates. 

Long-term parking increased $2.00, from $5/day to $7/day. Curb valet increased by $7.00, 

from $28/day to $35/day.  

WI NGSPAN Ribbon Cutting:  The ceremony is expected to be held in January 2017. 

Art I nstallation Update:  The water wall to the left of the security checkpoint was 

installed last week. The glass in the elevator fronts is complete at both elevators. By the 

middle of this month, Staff is taking delivery of the main piece for the North fountain. This 

piece will be stored until the fountain is complete. Other art is being installed on September 

8, 2016 in the niche in Concourse A. The second water wall will be installed sometime this 

fall. The installation of the terrazzo medallions at the down escalator locations has been 

delayed as a result of construction; however, installation is expected between mid-October 

and early November. The District has received positive feedback with regards to the art 

installations thus far.  

COMMI SSI ONER’S REPORT:  

Mrs. Shaw noted the upcoming ACI -NA Annual Conference in Canada and Mr. Edwards 

commented that this is the ACI-NA Annual Conference combined with ACI-World. Airport 

industry executives from all over will be in attendance at this conference and Mr. Edwards 



expects approximately 2,500 attendees. Mr. Burch, Chair of the ACI-NA Commissioners 

Committee, will be attending as well. Mr. Edwards will be speaking at a BIT Committee and 

hosting a session about construction development and building in a “Sense of Place.” 

The Commissioners Conference will be in Greenville, SC April 2-4, 2017. Mr. Burch will chair 

this event. ACI-NA runs this particular conference and selects the venue. GSP plans to 

coordinate a golf tournament and BMW driving experience event.  

EXECUTI VE SESSI ON: 
 

There being no further business, a motion was made, seconded, and carried to go into 

Executive Session. The specific purpose of the executive session was to receive legal advice 

on various matters, specifically the TD Bank contracts and Loan Agreements, the agreement 

with Crawford Strategies, specifically to discuss the scope and content of deliverables, and a 

confidential economic development project.  

ADJOURNMENT: 

At approximately 11:22 a.m., public session resumed with no action being taken. The 

meeting was adjourned at 11:23 p.m. The next meeting is scheduled for November 21st at 

9:00 a.m. 

SI GNATURE OF PREPARER:  

 

 

 

________________________________________ 

Stefanie Hyder 

 

 

 



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: Scott C. Carr, A.A.E., Vice President – Commercial Business and Properties 

 

DATE: November 21, 2016 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – Presentation I tem A 
 
Retail Concessions and Parking Program Updates 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
An informational overview of the airport’s food, beverage, and retail concessions 

program will be presented. As part of the overall Wingspan project, the airport has 

opened new restaurants and stores in the Grand Hall with a few others still under 

construction.    

 

In addition, an update will be provided on the airport’s parking program. As 

enplanements continue to grow year-over-year, the demand for parking services has 

continued to increase.  Thus, additional facilit ies are needed to meet both current and 

future parking demand of the traveling public at some point in the near future. 

 

 



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: Jack G. Murrin, VP of Administration & Finance/CFO 

 

DATE: November 21, 2016 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – New Business I tem A 
 
Acceptance of Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Financial Audit and 

Schedules of Expenditures for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, and 

Report of Independent Auditor 

 

BACKGROUND 
 

Article 7 “Certain Covenants of the District,”  Section 716, of the 1988 GSP Master Bond 

Resolution mandates that the District shall annually, within 120 days after the close of 

each Fiscal Year, cause an audit to be made of its books and accounts by an 

independent and recognized certified public accounting firm. 

 

Also, as a recipient of FAA grant funds, the requirement for an audit is further 

established by incorporation of grant assurance # 13 and by reference to Federal 

Regulation 49 CFR Part 18. Sponsors that expend $500,000 or more in an year in 

Federal funds must have a single or program-specific audit conducted for that year in 

accordance with the Single Audit Act of 1984 (as amended) and OMB Circular A-133 

"Audits of States, Local Governments and Nonprofit Organization." The $500,000 

threshold represents all Federal funding sources.  

 

I SSUES 
 

The Audit Committee met on October 21, 2016 and was presented with the audit 

findings.  The audit was clean and unqualified. 

 

Representatives of the Cherry, Bekaert & Holland audit firm will present the Audit 

findings and answer questions the Airport Commission may have. 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business I tem A 

Acceptance of Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Financial Audit and Schedules 

of Expenditures for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, and Report of 

Independent Auditor 

Page 2 

  

ALTERNATI VES 
 

None recommended 

 

FI SCAL I MPACT 

 

None 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTI ON 
 

I t is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission accept the audit report as 

presented. 

 

 

 



 

 
 
GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT 
DISTRICT 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULE OF 
EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

As of and for the Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015

 
And Report of Independent Auditor 
 

 
 

 
 



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR ............................................................................................. 1-2 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ........................................................................ 3-13 

 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Statements of Net Position ....................................................................................................................... 14-15 
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position .............................................................. 16 
Statements of Cash Flows ............................................................................................................................. 17 
Notes to Financial Statements .................................................................................................................. 18-32 

 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
Schedule of the Airport’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability .................................................. 33 
Schedule of the Airport’s Pension Contribution  ............................................................................................ 34 

 

FEDERAL FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
Report of Independent Auditor on Internal Control Over Financial 
  Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an 
  Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with  
  Government Auditing Standards  ............................................................................................................ 35-36 
 
Report of Independent Auditor on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and on  
  Internal Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance  .................................................. 37-38 
 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ................................................................................................ 39 
 
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ........................................................................... 40 
 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs ................................................................................................. 41 
 
Schedule of Status of Prior Year Findings and Questioned Costs ................................................................ 42 

 

 
 



 

 

Report of Independent Auditor 
 
 
To the Commissioners of 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District 
Greer, South Carolina 
 

Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District (the 
“Airport”), a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina, as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, and the related 
statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position and cash flows for the years then ended, and 
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Airport’s basic financial statements 
as listed in the table of contents.   

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Opinion  
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the Airport, as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 



 

2 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information  
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 13 and the required supplementary information schedules on pages 
33 and 34 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of 
the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to 
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and 
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.  

Other Information 
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Airport’s basic financial statements. The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards 
(“SEFA”), as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, (the “Uniform Guidance”), is 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  
 
The SEFA is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, 
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America. In our opinion, the SEFA is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole. 
 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 12, 2016 on 
our consideration of the Airport’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that 
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering the Airport’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
Greenville, South Carolina 
October 12, 2016



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 (UNAUDITED) 
 

3 

The following Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District (“GSP,” 
“District” or the “Airport”) activities and financial performance for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, 
is presented in accordance with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34, Basic 
Financial Statements — Management’s Discussion and Analysis — For State and Local Governments. The 
intent of the MD&A is to provide the reader with an introduction and overview to the financial statement 
package. 

Following this MD&A are the basic financial statements of the Airport together with the notes thereto, which are 
essential to a full understanding of the data contained in the financial statements. In addition to the basic 
financial statements and accompanying notes, this section also presents certain required supplementary 
information regarding debt service requirements to maturity. 

Overview of Annual Financial Report 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis serves as an introduction to the basic financial statements. The MD&A 
represents management’s examination and analysis of the Airport’s financial condition and performance. 
Summary financial statement data, key financial, and operational indicators used in the Airport’s budgeting and 
other management tools were used for this analysis. 

The Airport’s financial statements include a statement of net position; a statement of revenues, expenses, and 
changes in net position; a statement of cash flows; and notes to financial statements. The statement of net 
position presents the financial position of the Airport on a full accrual historical cost basis and provides 
information about the nature and amount of resources and obligations at the end of a year.  

The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position present the results of the business activities 
over the course of the fiscal year and information as to how the net position changed during the year. All 
changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, 
regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. This statement also provides certain information about the 
Airport’s recovery of its costs. The Airport’s rates and charges are based on a cost recovery methodology 
provided in its airline use agreements. The primary objective of the rates and charges model is to determine the 
costs not covered by non-airline sources and to annually compute landing fees and terminal rents which will 
provide sufficient funding to reimburse the Airport. 

The statement of cash flows presents changes in cash and cash equivalents, resulting from operational, 
financing, and investing activities. This statement presents cash receipts and cash disbursement information, 
without consideration of the earnings event, when obligations arise, or depreciation of capital assets. 

The notes to financial statements provide disclosures and other information that is essential to a full 
understanding of material data provided in the statements. The notes present information about the Airport’s 
accounting policies, significant account balances, activities, material risks, obligations, commitments, 
contingencies and subsequent events, if any. 

The financial statements were prepared by the Airport’s staff from the detailed books and records of the Airport. 

  



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 (UNAUDITED) 
 

4 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION, JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 June 30         
 2016    2015    Change    % 
Assets:        
  Cash and investments  $ 19,669,642   $ 46,480,755  $ (26,811,113)  (57.68)
  Bond funds 397,748  382,807  14,941  3.90 
  Receivables 5,914,095  2,897,964  3,016,131  104.08 
  Capital assets – net 216,597,316  188,744,416  27,852,900  14.76 
  Other 1,056,375  438,329  618,046  141.00 
      
       Total assets  $ 243,635,176   $ 238,944,271  $ 4,690,905  1.96 

      
Deferred Outflow of Pension 
Resources  $ 972,467

 
 $ 887,006 

  
$ 85,461

  
9.63 

      
Liabilities:      
  Current liabilities  $ 3,818,709   $ 5,451,919   $ (1,633,210)  (29.96)
  Long-term liabilities 14,820,829  14,211,384  609,445  4.29 
      
       Total liabilities  $ 18,639,538   $ 19,663,303   $ (1,023,765)  (5.21)

      
Deferred Inflow of Pension  $ 32,267   $ 853,882   $ (821,615)  (96.22)

      
      
Net position:      
  Net investment in capital assets  $ 214,087,781   $ 185,951,847  $ 28,135,934  15.13 
  Restricted 2,431,483  2,395,378  36,105  1.51 
  Unrestricted 9,416,574  30,966,867  (21,550,293)  (69.59)
      
       Total net position  $ 225,935,838   $ 219,314,092  $ 6,621,746  3.02 

        

 
As can be seen from the above, the Airport has a very strong Statement of Net Position. Liquidity continues 
to be very strong. Total net position is $225,935,838 of which $9,416,574 is unrestricted. 

• Total assets at June 30, 2016 were $243,635,176, which included $6,656,421 in cash and receivables, 
$16,864,384 million in investments, $397,748 in investments held by US Bank (GSP’s Revenue Bond 
Trustee), and $216,597,316 in capital assets. Total liabilities were $18,639,538, $10,446,431 of which 
related to the unfunded portion of the South Carolina Retirement pension and $2,280,000 of which related to 
GSP’s 2001 rental car facility bond issue outstanding at year end.  The difference between the 
$243,635,176 in assets plus the $972,467 in deferred outflows of resources and the $18,639,538 in 
liabilities plus the $32,267 in deferred inflows of resources is categorized as Net Position ($225,935,838). 
Net Position is composed of $214,087,781 of net investment in capital assets, $2,431,483 in restricted 
assets for capital projects, and $9,416,574 in unrestricted assets. 

  



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 (UNAUDITED) 
 

5 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION, JUNE 30, 2015 AND 2014 
 
 June 30         
 2015    2014    Change    % 
Assets:        
  Cash and investments  $ 46,480,755   $ 61,034,325  $ (14,553,570)  (23.84)
  Bond funds 382,807  377,355  5,452  1.44 
  Receivables 2,897,964  3,050,010  (152,046)  (4.99)
  Capital assets – net 188,744,416  165,081,479  23,662,937  14.33 
  Other 438,329  511,914  (73,585)  (14.37)
        
       Total assets  $ 238,944,271   $ 230,055,083  $ 8,889,188   3.86 

        
Deferred Outflow of Pension 
Resources  $ 887,006 

  
 $ - 

  
$ 887,006 

  
100.00 

        
Liabilities:        
  Current liabilities  $ 5,451,919   $ 5,192,067  $ 259,852  5.00 
  Long-term liabilities 14,211,384  5,411,629  8,799,755  162.61 
        
       Total liabilities  $ 19,663,303   $ 10,603,696  $ 9,059,607  85.44 

        
Deferred Inflow of Pension  $ 853,882   $ -  $ 853,882  100.00 

        
        
Net position:        
  Net investment in capital assets  $ 185,951,847   $ 162,020,253  $ 23,931,594  14.77 
  Restricted 2,395,378  1,930,726  464,652  24.07 
  Unrestricted 30,966,867  55,500,408  (24,553,541)  (44.20)
        
       Total net position  $ 219,314,092   $ 219,451,387  $ (137,295)  (0.06)

         

 
As can be seen from the above, the Airport has a very strong Statement of Net Position. Liquidity continues 
to be very strong. Total net position is $219,314,092 of which $30,966,867 is unrestricted. 

• Total assets at June 30, 2015 were $238,944,271, which included $10,245,062 in cash and receivables, 
$36,261,894 million in investments, $382,807 in investments held by US Bank (GSP’s Revenue Bond 
Trustee), and $188,744,416 in capital assets. Total liabilities were $19,663,303, $9,311,330 of which related 
to the unfunded portion of the South Carolina Retirement pension and $2,575,000 of which related to GSP’s 
2001 rental car facility bond issue outstanding at year end.  The difference between the $238,944,271 in 
assets plus the $887,006 in deferred outflows of resources and the $19,663,303 in liabilities plus the 
$853,882 in deferred inflows of resources is categorized as Net Position ($219,314,092). Net Position is 
composed of $185,951,847 of net investment in capital assets, $2,395,378 in restricted assets for capital 
projects, and $30,996,867 in unrestricted assets. 

  



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 (UNAUDITED) 
 

6 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION, JUNE 30, 2015 AND 2014 

 June 30     
 2016    2015    Change    % 
Operating revenues:        
  Landing and other airside fees  $ 2,956,934   $ 2,918,915   $ 38,019  1.30 
  Space and ground rental fees 8,709,634  8,053,184  656,450  8.15 
  Concessions revenue 14,178,162  13,342,259  835,903  6.27 
  Expense reimbursements 1,272,775  1,112,448  160,327  14.41 
  Other revenue 1,247,052  1,257,319  (10,267)  (0.82)
       
       Total operating revenues 28,364,557  26,684,125  1,680,432  6.30 
       
Operating expenses:       
  Direct operating expenses 15,675,674  14,625,743  1,049,931  7.18 
  Loss on disposal of assets 195,388  490,095  (294,707)  (60.13)
  Depreciation   10,129,258  9,725,558  403,700  4.15 
       
       Total operating expenses 26,000,320  24,841,396  1,158,924  4.67 
       
Operating income 2,364,237  1,842,729  521,508  28.30 
       
Non-operating income  916,288  711,738  204,550  28.74 
       
Income before capital 
contributions 

 
3,280,525

  
2,554,467 

  
726,058 

 
28.42 

       
       Capital contributions 3,341,221  6,523,985  (3,182,764)  (48.79)
       
Change in net position before  
   cumulative change 6,621,746   9,078,452 (2,456,706)  (27.06)
Cumulative effect of the change 
in accounting principle -  (9,215,747) 9,215,747  (100.00)
     
Change in net position  $ 6,621,746  $ (137,295)  $ 6,759,041  4,923.01

 

• Total operating revenues were $28,364,557 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, up 6.3% from 
$26,684,125 as compared to the prior year.  This increase was the result of higher auto parking revenues 
due to an increase in traffic and higher airline space rental revenues due to a higher rate charged to recoup 
budgeted terminal expenses. 

• Total direct operating expenses were $15,675,674 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, up 7.18% from 
$14,625,743 as compared to the prior year. This increase was largely due to an increase in employee 
benefits, professional services and promotional activities.   

• The loss on disposal of assets was $195,388 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, down 60.13% from 
$490,095 as compared to the prior year.  The current fiscal year consisted of the fuel farm disposal while the 
prior fiscal year included disposal of larger apron assets.   



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 (UNAUDITED) 
 

7 

• Total non-operating income was $916,288 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, up 28.74% from 
$711,738 as compared to the prior year.  This is due to an increase in excess Contract Facility Charge 
(“CFC”) revenues from the rental car companies.  

• Depreciation expense was $10,129,258 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, as compared to $9,725,558 
in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015.   

• The debt service coverage ratio was 3,201%, which exceeded the 125% required by the debt covenants of 
GSP’s various bond issues. 

• The blended result of increased operating revenues and non-operating income, only partially offset by an 
increase in direct operating expense and depreciation expense, as discussed above, resulted in GSP’s net 
income before capital contribution of $3,280,525 and $2,554,467 for fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 and 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, respectively. 

   



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 (UNAUDITED) 
 

8 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION, JUNE 30, 2015 AND 2014 

 June 30     
 2015    2014    Change    % 
Operating revenues:        
  Landing and other airside fees  $ 2,918,915   $ 2,994,349   $ (75,434)  (2.52)
  Space and ground rental fees 8,053,184  8,011,832  41,352  0.52 
  Concessions revenue 13,342,259  12,597,222  745,037  5.91 
  Expense reimbursements 1,112,448  1,024,100  88,348  8.63 
  Other revenue 1,257,319  1,057,549  199,770  18.89 
        
       Total operating revenues 26,684,125  25,685,052  999,073  3.89 
        
Operating expenses:        
  Direct operating expenses 14,625,743  13,079,341  1,546,402  11.82 
  Loss on disposal of assets 490,095  2,027,434  (1,537,339)  (75.83)
  Depreciation   9,725,558  10,050,973  (325,415)  (3.24)
        
       Total operating expenses 24,841,396  25,157,748  (316,352)  (1.26)
        
Operating income 1,842,729  527,304  1,315,425  249.46 
        
Non-operating income  711,738  178,663  533,075  298.37 
        
Income before capital 
contributions 

 
2,554,467 

  
705,967 

  
1,848,500 

 
261.84 

        
       Capital contributions 6,523,985  8,190,973  (1,666,988)  (20.35)
        
Change in net position before  
   cumulative change   9,078,452  8,896,940  181,512  2.04
Cumulative effect of the change in  
   accounting principle  (9,215,747) - (9,215,747)  100.00
    
Change in net position  $ (137,295)  $ 8,896,940 $  (9,034,235)  (101.54)

 

• Total operating revenues were $26,684,125 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, up 3.89% from 
$25,685,052 as compared to the prior year.  This increase was the result of higher auto parking revenues, 
higher rental car concessions and lease income from tenants acquired with the purchase of Runion 
properties. 

• Total direct operating expenses were $14,625,743 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, up 11.82% from 
$13,079,341 as compared to the prior year. This increase was largely due to employee benefits, consulting 
services, promotional expenses and unanticipated projects (terminal-related and economy lot drainage 
primarily).   

• The loss on disposal of assets was $490,095 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, down 75.83% from 
$2,027,434 as compared to the prior year.  The current fiscal year mostly consisted of apron disposal while 
the prior fiscal year included disposal of large terminal assets.   



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 (UNAUDITED) 
 

9 

• Total non-operating income was $711,738 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, up 298.37% from 
$178,663 as compared to the prior year.  This is due to an increase in excess Contract Facility Charge 
(“CFC”) revenues from the rental car companies.  

• Depreciation expense was $9,725,558 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, as compared to $10,050,973 
in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014.   

• The debt service coverage ratio was 3,158%, which exceeded the 125% required by the debt covenants of 
GSP’s various bond issues. 

• The blended result of increased operating revenues and non-operating income, along with a decrease in 
operating expense, loss on the disposal of assets and depreciation expense, as discussed above, resulted 
in GSP’s net income before capital contribution of $2,554,467 and $705,967 for fiscal year ended               
June 30, 2015 and fiscal year ended June 30, 2014, respectively. 

• Effective August 1, 2014, Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District adopted the provisions of GASB Statement 
No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions - an Amendment of GASB Statement No. 27 
(“Statement No. 68”), and GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent 
to the Measurement Date – an Amendment of GASB Statement No. 68 (“Statement No. 71”).  These 
provisions require government employers to recognize as a liability, their long-term obligation for these 
pension benefits.  As a result of this implementation, Net Position of $219,451,387 at July 1, 2014 was 
restated to reflect the net pension liability of $9,790,540 and Deferred Outflows of Resources of $540,793 to 
become $210,235,640.   



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 (UNAUDITED) 
 

10 

Description of Significant Capital and Long‐term Debt Expenditures 

The Airport District is currently in the midst of a major terminal renovation with a project budget of approximately 
$123 million.  The expected completion date is scheduled for 3rd quarter, calendar year 2016.  The first two of 
three project phases constituting approximately $72.5 million was completed and capitalized in the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2015.  The final project phase will continue to be reflected in Construction In Progress, valued at 
$49 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 versus $21 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, 
until final completion and capitalization in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017. 

The Airport District has incurred no additional long-term debt expenditures in either the fiscal year ended              
June 30, 2016 or June 30, 2015.  The only expenditures related to long-term debt are those of normal debt service.  
On May 9, 2016 the District’s Commission approved the opening of a $25 million Line of Credit (“LOC”) with TD 
Bank for special project use, but as of June 30, 2016 there were no drawdowns on said LOC. 

Changes in Credit Ratings and Debt Limitations 

The Airport District has an A2 credit rating with a stable outlook from Moody’s.  There were no changes in our 
credit ratings or associated debt limitations in either the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016 or June 30, 2015. 

All foreseeable normal operational capital projects within a ten-year horizon are projected to be funded internally 
with Airport District reserve funds and/or with FAA grant funds.  For new “special projects” outside the normal 
operational scope, management has the option to utilize the aforementioned LOC for funding purposes.  As 
special projects are completed, they can be “termed out” (removed from the LOC and replaced with a fixed 
permanent loan), at management’s discretion. 

Looking Ahead … 

Aviation Industry Overview 
 
The airline industry is particularly susceptible and sensitive to many variables we find in our world today: 

• Oil Prices 
• Terrorist events, like 9/11 
• Domestic and global economic conditions 
• Pandemics and other health concerns 
• Aircraft accidents 
• Fleet & maintenance issues / aircraft orders and delays 
• Customer service issues / failures & resultant negative press 
• Volatility of fuel prices 
• Debt restructuring 
• Volcanic activity 
• Merger, acquisitions, bankruptcies of airlines 
• And, others 

 
Any one of these can impact airline traffic dramatically, as experience has abundantly proven. And yet, when 
you combine these factors in an ever-changing world, you can expect very volatile results. Airlines have 
attempted to minimize financial losses through these periods of extreme volatility by lowering operating costs, 
merging, canceling unprofitable routes, charging for baggage/food/etc., and grounding older, less fuel-efficient 
aircraft. 
 
  



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 (UNAUDITED) 
 

11 

Overall, it appears that many aviation industry prognosticators believe that: 
• Airfares are likely to stay high most of this decade. 
• Passenger travel will continue to grow at reduced rates, but airline capacity will continue to shrink, albeit 

slowly. This combination will cause planes to get more crowded, and is likely to remain that way. 
• Over the next two decades, U.S. airline travel is expected to nearly double. 
• Airlines are recording historically high profitability levels. These levels of higher profitability are expected 

to continue for the foreseeable future. 
 
The most recent Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA’s”) Aerospace Forecast currently published (2016-2036) 
contains the following “Forecast Highlights”: 
 
“Since its deregulation in 1978, the U.S. commercial air carrier industry has been characterized by boom-to-bust 
cycles.  The volatility that was associated with these cycles was thought by many to be a structural feature of an 
industry that was capital intensive but cash poor.  However the great recession of 2007-09 marked a 
fundamental change in the operations and finances of U.S. Airlines.  Air carriers fine-tuned their business 
models to minimize losses by lowering operating costs, elimination unprofitable routes, and grounding older, 
less fuel-efficient aircraft.  To increase operating revenues, carriers initiated new services that customers were 
willing to purchase and started charging separately for services that were historically bundled in the price of a 
ticket.  The industry experienced an unprecedented period of consolidation with four major mergers in five 
years. These changes along with capacity discipline exhibited by carriers have resulted in a fifth consecutive 
year of profitability for the industry in 2015.  Looking ahead there is optimism that the industry had been 
transformed from that of a boom-to-bust cycle to one of sustainable profits. 
 
As the economy recovers from the most serious economic downturn since World War II and the slowest 
expansion in recent history, aviation will continue to grow over the long fun.  Fundamentally, over the medium 
and long term, demand for aviation is driven by economic activity.  The 2016 FAA forecast calls for U.S. carrier 
passenger growth over the next 20 years to average 2.1 percent per year, slightly faster than last year’s 
forecast.  The sharp decline in the price of oil in 2015 is a catalyst for a short-lived uptick in passenger growth in 
2016.  Although oil prices are projected to fall to around $43 per barrel in 2016, our forecast assumes that they 
will rise thereafter to exceed $100 by 2023 and $150 by the end of the forecast, keeping a lid on U.S. economic 
growth during the same period.  There are a number of headwinds that are buffeting the global economy – the 
fall in oil prices, recession in Russia and Brazil and inconsistent performance in other emerging economies, a 
“hard landing” in China, and lack of further stimulus in the advanced economies.  The uncertainty over the future 
course of oil prices is just one more item on the list.  Although the U.S. economy has managed to avoid a 
recession, a prolonged period of faster economic growth (e.g. >3%) may not be forthcoming. 
 
System traffic in revenue passenger miles (RPMs) is projected to increase by 2.6 percent a year between 2016 
and 2036.  Domestic RPMs are forecast to grow 2.1 percent a year while International RPMs are forecast to 
grow almost twice as fast at 3.5 percent a year.  U.S. carrier system capacity measure in available seat miles 
(ASMs) is forecast to grow in line with the increases in demand.  The number of seats per aircraft is getting 
bigger, especially in the regional jet market, where we expect the number of 50 seat regional jets to fall to just a 
handful by 2023, replaced by 70-90 seat aircraft. 
 
Although the U.S. and global economy continued to sputter in 2015, stable demand and lower energy prices 
resulted in record profits for U.S. airlines.  U.S. carrier profitability should remain steady or increase as the 
recovery leads to strengthening demand and increase revenues, while lower energy prices keep operating costs 
in check.  Over the long term, we see a competitive and profitable aviation industry characterized by increasing 
demand for air travel and airfares growing more slowly than inflation, reflecting over the long term a growing 
U.S. economy.   
 
  



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 (UNAUDITED) 
 

12 

The long-term outlook for general aviation is favorable, led by gains in turbine aircraft activity.  The active 
general aviation fleet is forecast to increase 0.2 percent a year between 2015 and 2036, equating to an absolute 
increase in the fleet of about 7,000 units.  While steady growth in both GDP and corporate profits results in 
continued growth of the turbine and rotorcraft fleets, the largest segment of the fleet – fixed wing piston aircraft 
continues to shrink over the forecast.  Although fleet growth is minimal, the number of general aviation hours 
flown is projected to increase an average of 1.2 percent per year through 2036, as growth in turbine, rotorcraft, 
and experimental hours more than offset a decline in fixed wing piston hours. 
 
With increasing numbers of regional and business jets in the nation’s skies, fleet mix changes, and carriers 
consolidating operations in their large hubs, we expect increased activity growth, which has the potential to 
increase controller workload.  Operations at FAA and contract towers are forecast to increase 0.9 percent a year 
over the forecast period with commercial activity growing at five times the rate of noncommercial activity.  The 
growth in U.S. airline and business aviation activity is the primary driver.  Large and medium hubs will see much 
faster increases than small and non-hub airports, largely due to the commercial nature of their operations.” 
 
Source: FAA Forecast Highlights 2016-2036 
 

Moody’s Investor Service Airport Industry Outlook 
 
Moody’s has assigned a positive outlook for the short-term (12-18 months) U.S. Airport industry sector as 
economic growth brings more travelers.  This outlook is summarized in the following press release on      
December 16, 2015: 
 
Global Credit Research - 16 Dec 2015 
 
More seat capacity on US airlines, combined with continued US economic expansion, will push enplanement 
growth to between 2.5% and 4% in 2016, approximately equal to our previous expectation of up to 4% growth in 
2015. Enplanement growth, or the increase in number of passengers using an airport to depart on a flight, is a 
key indicator of our outlook because in most instances it translates into higher parking and airport-terminal 
concession revenues, which account for about half of total airport revenue. Our outlook has been positive since 
December 2014. 
 

• Airlines will add more seats in 2016, supporting enplanement growth. Seat growth, which we 
expect to rise between 3% and 4.5%, is strongly correlated with airline seat capacity and economic 
growth. Based on guidance provide by US airlines in third quarter earnings updates, seat capacity 
growth will be moderate at the large US carriers, but smaller airlines will again add significant capacity in 
2016. 

 
• US economic growth will support demand for US travel. The US economy will grow about 2.5%, 

according to Moody's Macroeconomic Board's forecast , supporting increased air travel. We also expect 
US travelers' strong demand to make up for weakness in inbound travel. 

 
• Higher-than-expected enplanement growth and stronger-than-expected financial performance 

this year will provide a cushion against downside risks in 2016. For 2015, most airports will report 
enplanement growth above 2%, which will result in increased debt-service coverage ratios and stronger 
liquidity. For 2016, we expect enplanement growth will be near 4%, which will also result in stronger-
than expected financial metrics. 

 
• Small airports will continue to lag as airlines constrain capacity growth. In 2015, small airports as 

a group have seen meager growth of about 1%. Small airports are more likely to only be served by the 
large legacy airlines, which are projected to see the smallest seat capacity growth. 

 



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 (UNAUDITED) 
 

13 

• What could change our outlook. We would likely shift back to a stable outlook if enplanement growth 
slips below 2.5%, which could happen if the US economy weakens. 

 
Source: Moody’s Investor Service outlook on US Airport Industry “2016 Outlook – Enplanement Growth Drives 
Positive Outlook”… December 10, 2015 
 

Greenville‐Spartanburg International Airport (“GSP”) Outlook 

Although profitability levels have been and continue to be very strong, management is focused on and remains 
committed to providing increased levels of air service for the surrounding population base.   We continue to work 
diligently towards attracting greater levels of air service for the Upstate region and are ever mindful about 
posturing ourselves from a competitive standpoint in the face of increased competition from Charlotte and 
Atlanta. 
 
A major project initiative currently underway and nearing completion is a redesign of our aging terminal facilities.   
The project started in 2012 and has a completion date tentatively scheduled for the 3

rd
 quarter, 2016. 

 
Management agrees with the FAA forecasts and continues to plan for long-term growth in accordance with local 
initiatives/demands, planning forecasts, and the approved 2003 Airport Master Plan (Note: an update to the 
2003 Master Plan is budgeted this year in the Capital Improvement Plan (“CIP”)). Management is committed to 
providing our customers with the highest level of service possible in these challenging and exciting times and 
look forward to the future. 
 
Management’s assessment of our long-term forecast continues to be favorable largely due to our lack of 
significant debt, competitive airline rates & charges, aggressive air service development efforts, regional 
economic trends, healthy catchment area/size, and many other factors. 
 
 
 
 



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 

The accompany notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 14 

2016 2015

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash 2,805,258$         9,620,747$         

Receivables 3,851,163           624,315              

Inventories and prepaid insurance 1,056,375           438,329              

 Investments 16,864,384         36,261,894         

Notes receivable - current portion 229,535              217,568              

Total current assets 24,806,715         47,162,853         

Restricted assets:

Cash -                          598,114              

Receivables 246,112              239,261              

Investments - held by Trustee 397,748              382,807              

Total restricted assets 643,860              1,220,182           

Notes receivable - net of current portion 1,587,285           1,816,820           

Capital assets - at cost:

Land 41,074,047         41,074,047         

Buildings and equipment 187,341,404       182,061,017       

Runways 65,205,550         60,789,646         

Construction-in-progress 48,909,735         20,890,224         

Total capital assets 342,530,736       304,814,934       

Less accumulated depreciation (125,933,420)      (116,070,518)      

Capital assets - net 216,597,316       188,744,416       

Total Assets 243,635,176$     238,944,271$     

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred Outflow Related to State Pension 972,467$            887,006$            



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION (CONTINUED) 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 

The accompany notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 15 

2016 2015

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:

Payable from unrestricted assets:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,191,429$         4,851,546$         

Unearned credits - current portion 229,535              217,568              
 

Total payable from unrestricted assets 3,420,964           5,069,114           

Payable from restricted assets:

Accrued interest payable 77,745                87,805                

Revenue bonds - current portion 320,000              295,000              

Total payable from restricted assets 397,745              382,805              

Total current liabilities 3,818,709           5,451,919           

Unearned credits - net of current portion 1,587,285           1,816,820           

Long-term employee benefits 827,113              803,234              

SCRS Pension liability 10,446,431         9,311,330           

Revenue bonds payable - net of current portion 1,960,000           2,280,000           

Total Liabilities 18,639,538$       19,663,303$       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred Inflow Related to State Pension 32,267$              853,882$            

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 214,087,781       185,951,847       

Restricted:

Held by Trustee 320,003              295,003              

Contract facility charges 2,111,480           2,100,375           

Total restricted 2,431,483           2,395,378           

Unrestricted 9,416,574           30,966,867         

Total Net Position 225,935,838$     219,314,092$     



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
 
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 

The accompany notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 16 

2016 2015

Operating revenues:

Airside 2,956,934$         2,918,915$         

Space and ground rental 8,709,634           8,053,184           

Concessions 14,178,162         13,342,259         

Other 2,519,827           2,369,767           

Total operating revenues 28,364,557         26,684,125         

Operating expenses before loss on disposal

  of assets and depreciation:

Airfield 293,485              223,299              

Terminal building 2,305,357           2,218,801           

Administrative 5,421,645           4,787,066           

Maintenance and operations 3,302,396           3,177,589           

Fire and crash department 1,141,020           1,106,173           

Security 1,236,226           1,242,102           

Other direct expenses 1,975,545           1,870,713           

Total operating expenses before loss on disposal

  of assets and depreciation 15,675,674         14,625,743         

Operating income before loss on disposal

  of assets and depreciation 12,688,883         12,058,382         

Net loss on disposal of assets 195,388              490,095              

Depreciation 10,129,258         9,725,558           

Operating income 2,364,237           1,842,729           

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):

Contract facility charges 1,026,795           856,591              

Interest on accounts 43,134                22,685                

Change in fair value of investments 1,855                  8,076                  

Interest and other financing costs - net (155,496)             (175,614)             

Nonoperating revenues - net 916,288              711,738              

Income before capital contributions 3,280,525           2,554,467           

Capital contributions 3,341,221           6,523,985           

Increase in net position before cumulative change 6,621,746           9,078,452           

Cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle -                          (9,215,747)          

Change in net position 6,621,746           (137,295)             

Net position:

Beginning of year 219,314,092       219,451,387       

End of year 225,935,838$     219,314,092$     



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 

The accompany notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 17 

2016 2015

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from providing services 25,137,709$       26,643,266$       

Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (10,093,965)        (7,018,728)          

Cash payments to employees for services (7,607,968)          (7,226,920)          

Net cash provided by operating activities 7,435,776           12,397,618         

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (38,177,546)        (33,878,590)        

Net proceeds from sale of 

  investments - held by Trustee (14,941)               (5,452)                 

Principal payments on bonds (295,000)             (280,000)             

Interest payment on bonds (165,556)             (185,162)             

Capital contributions 3,341,221           6,523,985           

Contract facility charges 1,019,944           843,270              

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (34,291,878)        (26,981,949)        

Cash flows from investing activities:
Net purchase and maturity of investment securities 19,399,365         10,262,979         

Investment income 43,134                22,685                

Net cash provided by investing activities 19,442,499         10,285,664         

Net increase (decrease) in cash (7,413,603)          (4,298,667)          

Cash, beginning of year 10,218,861         14,517,528         

Cash, end of year 2,805,258$        10,218,861$      

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
  provided by operating activities:

Operating income 2,364,237$         1,842,729$         

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash

  provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 10,129,258         9,725,558           

Net loss on disposal of capital assets 195,388              490,095              

Change in assets and liabilities:

Trade and other receivables (3,226,848)          (40,859)               

Inventories and prepaid insurance (618,046)             73,585                

Deferred outflows related to state pension (85,461)               (312,214)             

Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,660,117)          243,059              

Other long-term liabilities 1,158,980           (478,217)             

Deferred pension investment earnings (821,615)             853,882              

 Total adjustments 5,071,539           10,554,889         

Net cash provided by operating activities 7,435,776$         12,397,618$       



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 

 18 

Note 1—Organization 
 
The Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District (the “Airport”) is a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina 
(the “State”). Commissioners of the Airport are recommended for appointment by a majority of the Greenville 
and Spartanburg County Delegations and appointed by the governor of the State. 
 

Note 2—Summary of significant accounting and reporting policies 
 
Basis of Presentation – Due to its organizational structure, the Airport is subject to the application of accounting 
pronouncements issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”).  
 
Use of Estimates – The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Cash – For purposes of the statements of cash flows, certain highly liquid investments (including restricted 
assets) not otherwise defined as an investment by State of South Carolina statute (see “Investments” below) 
with an original maturity of three months or less, are considered to be cash equivalents and are recorded at fair 
market value. The cash equivalents as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 were $14,997,161 and $29,999,961, 
respectively, and are included in the balance of investments in the statements of net position.   
 
Inventories – Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market. 
 
Investments – The Airport’s investments, consisting of U.S. Treasury bills and notes at June 30, 2016 and 2015, 
are carried at fair value. All investments are carried in the Airport’s name and held by the dealer/safekeeping 
agent. Investment maturities are currently set for four weeks, in order to have funds available when needed for 
the terminal improvement project.  At maturity, the Treasury bills are either reinvested or included in current 
assets until used for construction in progress.   
 
Investments – Held by Trustee – Investments – Held by Trustee represent funds held by a trustee under bond 
indenture agreements as required by provisions of the Series 2001 Bonds. Such trusteed funds include debt 
service reserve, construction, and principal and interest accounts. These investments consist primarily of U.S. 
Treasury securities. 
 

   



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 

 19 

Note 2—Summary of significant accounting and reporting policies (continued) 
 
Capital Assets – Capital assets are stated at historical cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets ranging from 3 to 25 years. The Airport’s 
threshold for capitalization is $10,000. Repair and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. Changes 
in accumulated depreciation during 2016 and 2015 are as follows: 
 

Fixed Assets
Acquired by Other Fixed Total Fixed
FAA Grants Assets Assets

Accumulated depreciation - June 30, 2014 67,369,155$       46,696,475$       114,065,630$   

Fiscal year 2015 depreciation 5,260,913           4,464,645           9,725,558         

Less - 2015 capital asset write-offs (6,720,054)          (1,000,616)          (7,720,670)        

Accumulated depreciation - June 30, 2015 65,910,014         50,160,504         116,070,518     

Fiscal year 2016 depreciation 4,820,799           5,308,459           10,129,258       

Less - 2016 capital asset write-offs (253,038)             (13,318)               (266,356)           

Accumulated depreciation - June 30, 2016 70,477,775$      55,455,645$      125,933,420$   

Contract Facility Charge – Contract Facility Charges (“CFCs”) are levied by the Airport pursuant to a 
Memorandum of Understanding signed with the rental car companies serving the Airport. This rate is adjusted 
from time to time as deemed necessary by airport management in order to cover the related annual 
expenses. The CFC rate was $4.00 per contract rental day as of June 30, 2016 and 2015. Up to the date of 
beneficial occupancy, April 1, 2003, the amounts received were recorded as non-operating revenues when 
earned and were to be used for construction of the rental car facility, in addition to funding the debt service 
requirements of the associated Series 2001 Bonds. Subsequent to April 1, 2003, CFCs received are recorded 
as space and ground rental operating revenue, in addition to non-operating revenue related to the continued 
funding of the related Series 2001 Bonds. The Airport is to receive the CFCs for the term of the related bonds 
(through fiscal 2020). 
 
The Memorandum of Understanding between the Airport and rental car companies serving the Airport also 
provides for the reimbursement of the construction costs which the Airport funded out of operations. The 
Airport is to be reimbursed over a 20-year period, payable monthly, including a 5.5% per annum finance 
charge. Upon receipt, the Airport records such reimbursement as operating revenue in the accompanying 
statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. The Airport has recorded the total amount of 
reimbursement outstanding from the rental car companies at June 30, 2016 and 2015, as notes receivable 
and unearned credits totaling $1,816,820 and $2,034,388, respectively, in the accompanying statements of 
net position. 
 

   



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 

 20 

Note 2—Summary of significant accounting and reporting policies (continued) 
 
For the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Airport has recorded CFCs related to space and ground rental 
as operating revenue of $1,367,162 and $1,345,198, respectively, in addition to non-operating revenue 
consisting of the following: 
 

2016 2015

Funding of Series 2001 Bonds 460,556$            465,163$          

329,460              329,460            

236,779              61,968              

1,026,795$         856,591$          

CFC surplus receipts/(deficit)

Reimbursement of Airport-funded construction 

Additionally, as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Airport had received but not yet spent CFCs totaling $1,865,368 
and $1,263,000, respectively, which are reported as restricted in the accompanying statements of net position 
until expended. 
 

Net Position – Net position is classified as net investment in capital assets, restricted and unrestricted. 
Restricted net position represents constraints on resources that are either externally imposed by creditors, 
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or imposed by law. 
 

Capital Contributions – Certain expenditures for airport capital improvements are significantly funded through 
the Airport Improvement Program (“AIP”) of the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) or from various State 
allocations or grant programs. Capital funding provided under government grants is considered earned as the 
related allowable expenditures are incurred. 
 

Grants for capital asset acquisition and facility development and rehabilitation are reported in the accompanying 
statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position, after non-operating revenues (expenses), as 
capital contributions. 
 

Operating Revenues and Expenses – All of the Airport’s activities relate to the operation of the airport except for 
the investment of residual cash and investments and financing-related activities. Accordingly, all of the Airport’s 
revenues and expenses, except for investment income and financing-related costs and charges, are classified 
as operating in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. 
 

Revenue Recognition – Airside and space and ground rental revenues consist of amounts received under 
Airline Operating Agreements with the major airlines serving the Airport, certain fixed fees for nonscheduled 
airlines and private users of the Airport, and certain fixed fees for other ancillary services provided. The Airline 
Operating Agreements stipulate that landing fees and space rental revenues will be based on maintenance and 
operations costs, as defined in the agreements. Additionally, the Series 2000 and 2001 Bonds contain a 
restrictive covenant which provides that the aggregate of airline fees and charges together with other revenues, 
including nonairline revenues, for each fiscal year should be sufficient to pay the operating expenses and to 
make all deposits and payments under bond ordinances. Airside and space and ground rental fees are 
recognized as revenue when the related services are provided and facilities utilized. 
 

Concessions and other revenue consist primarily of rental car, parking, and other ancillary services revenue. 
Such revenue is generally based on a fixed percentage of tenant revenues subject to certain minimum monthly 
fees or a fixed fee schedule. Concessions and other revenue are recognized when earned. 
 

Other Direct Expenses – Other direct expenses consist primarily of the upkeep of the cargo, rental car, and 
parking lot facilities. Other direct expenses are recognized when incurred.   



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 

 21 

Note 2—Summary of significant accounting and reporting policies (continued) 
 
Post-Employment Benefits – During the 2010 fiscal year, the Airport implemented a new personnel policy in 
which it will pay for a portion of an eligible retiree’s health insurance premiums between ages 60 to 65 who also 
have at least 10 years of service with the Airport.  The liability related to this new benefit was not material; 
however, a liability related to this benefit is included in the long-term employee benefits in the statements of net 
position.   
 
Compensated Absences – Employees earn vacation leave at a rate of 80 to 160 hours per year dependent upon 
length of service. Unused vacation hours can be carried over from year to year up to a maximum of 480 hours 
and are payable upon termination, resignation, retirement, or death in accordance with the Airport’s personnel 
policy. The noncurrent portion of the accrued liability related to vacation hours is included in long-term employee 
benefits and the current portion in accrued liabilities in the statements of net position.  
 
Regular full-time employees accumulate sick leave at the rate of 96 hours per year and can accrue up to 720 
hours. All employees who properly resign, are laid off, or otherwise separated from the Airport in good standing 
are entitled to be paid 33% of any unused sick balance not to exceed 240 hours.  An accrual for sick leave has 
been made as of June 30, 2016 and has been categorized into a short-term and long-term portion.  Sick leave 
can be taken for medical appointments, personal illness or illness of a member of the immediate family. Sick 
leave may be used in the determination of length of service for retirement benefit purposes.  The noncurrent 
portion of the accrued liability related to sick leave is included in long-term employee benefits and the current 
portion in accrued liabilities in the statements of net position. 
 
New Pronouncements – The GASB has issued the following statement, which has been implemented by the 
Airport for the year ended June 30, 2016: 
 
GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, effective for periods beginning after               
June 15, 2015, addresses accounting and financial reporting issues related to fair value measurements.  The 
definition of fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  This statement provides guidance for 
determining a fair value measurement for financial reporting purposes.  The statement also provides guidance 
for applying fair value to certain investments and disclosures related to all fair value measurements.  This 
statement does not have a material impact on the Airport’s financial statements.   

The GASB has issued several statements which have not yet been implemented by the Airport. The statement 
which may have a future impact on the Airport is as follows: 

GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than 
Pensions, effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2017, replaces the requirements of GASB Statement 
No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. 
Among other things, GASB Statement No. 75 requires governments to report a liability on the face of the 
financial statements for the other postemployment benefits (“OPEB”) that they provide and requires 
governments in all types of OPEB plans to present more extensive note disclosures and required supplementary 
information about their OPEB liabilities. 

   



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 

 22 

Note 3—Cash and other financial instruments 
 
All the cash deposits of the Airport are in a single financial institution and are carried at cost plus interest which 
approximates fair value. The carrying amount of cash deposits is separately reported as cash in the 
accompanying statements of net position. These deposits are either insured or collateralized by using one of 
two methods. Under the Dedicated Method, all deposits are collateralized with securities held by the Airport. 
Under the Pooling Method, which is a collateral pool, all uninsured deposits are collateralized with securities 
held by the State Treasurer’s agent in the name of the State Treasurer. 
 
Airport cash accounts are part of a nightly multi-account sweep with a major financial institution’s automated 
investment system repurchase agreement.  The balance of the overnight agreement was $5,083,241 and 
$9,679,960 as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The overnight repurchase agreements are 
collateralized by the underlying U.S. government securities utilizing the Dedicated Method. Under the dedicated 
method, the bank custodian is required to pledge specific securities for collateralized balances in excess of the 
amounts covered by the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation. 
 
At June 30, 2016 and 2015, the carrying amount for Airport’s cash totaled $6,417,367 and $11,599,322, 
respectively. Of the Airport’s bank balance, $250,000 was covered by federal depository insurance, while the 
remainder of the Airport’s deposits were covered by collateral held under the Dedicated Method.  
 

Note 4—Receivables 
 
Receivables are recorded at their gross value when earned and are reduced, if applicable, by the estimated 
portion that is expected to be uncollectible. The allowance for uncollectible amounts, when applicable, is based 
on collection history, aviation industry trends, and current information regarding the creditworthiness of the 
tenants and others doing business with the Airport. As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, no allowance for 
uncollectible amounts was recorded. 
 
Receivables (including restricted assets) consisted of the following as of June 30, 2016 and 2015: 
 

2016 2015

Trade and contract facility charge 745,826$            668,808$          

FAA and other grants 3,348,318           7,097                

3,131                  187,671            

4,097,275$         863,576$          

Interest and other

Note 5—Investments 
 
At June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Airport’s investment balances, recorded at fair value, were $16,864,384 and 
$36,261,894, respectively.  At June 30, 2016 and 2015, the entire amount was invested in U.S. Treasury bills.   
 
All investments held at June 30, 2016 and 2015 have maturities of less than one year and have an AAA rating.  
In addition, investments with fair values of $397,748 and $382,807 as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, 
were held by a trustee. 
 

   



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 

 23 

Note 5—Investments (continued) 
 
Types of Allowable Investments – in accordance with the South Carolina State Statutes and the Airport District’s 
approved investment policy, the following investments are permitted: 
 

1. Checking accounts in U.S. federally insured banks and savings and loans not to exceed federally 
insured amounts; 
 

2. Money market funds that invest in U.S. Government backed securities; 
 

3. U.S. Treasury Obligations to include U.S. Treasury bills and notes, or any other obligation or 
security issued by or backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Treasury;  

 
4. Federal Agency Obligations including bonds, notes, debentures, or other obligations or securities 

issued by, or backed by, full faith and credit of any U.S. Government agency or sponsored 
enterprise. 

 
5. South Carolina Local Government Investment Pool (“SCLGIP”) limited to 25% of investment 

portfolio. 

 
Interest Rate Risk – As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest rates, the 
Airport generally limits a portion of its investment portfolio to maturities of less than 12 months. Also, the 
Airport’s purchases of securities are laddered with staggered maturity dates. 
 
Credit Risk – The Airport has no written policy regarding credit risk. However, a conservative investment 
strategy is maintained. Currently, most investments are in T-bills, securities backed by U.S. Treasuries, or 
deposits which fall within the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limits. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk – For an investment, the custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of the 
counterparty, the Airport will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in 
the possession of an outside party. Since a large majority of the Airport’s investments are with the U.S. Treasury 
Department in the form of T-bills, or other securities backed by the U.S. Treasury, management views custodial 
credit risk as minimal, and consequently, has no written policy on this particular form of risk. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk – The Airport places no limit on the amount that the Airport may invest in any one 
issuer, with the exception of the 25% limitation on the SCLGIP. All of the Airport’s investments are in, or backed 
by, U.S. Treasury bills and the SCLGIP. 
 
Fair Value – Investments are reported at fair value and categorized within the fair value hierarchy established 
under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The hierarchy is based on the 
valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset.  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets 
for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant 
unobservable inputs. Gains or losses that result from market fluctuation are reported in the current period.  As of 
June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Airport’s Treasury bills are valued using significant other observable inputs (Level 
2 inputs).  



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 

 24 

Note 6—Capital assets 
 
A summary of changes in capital assets during fiscal 2016 and 2015 is as follows: 
 

Transfers/

June 30, 2015 Additions Disposals June 30, 2016

Capital assets not being depreciated:

  Land  $     41,074,047  $                   -    $                   -    $     41,074,047 

  Construction-in-process         20,890,224         37,946,244         (9,926,733)         48,909,735 

      Total capital assets not being

        depreciated         61,964,271         37,946,244         (9,926,733)         89,983,782 

Capital assets being depreciated:

  Buildings and equipment       182,061,017              231,303           5,049,084       187,341,404 

  Runways         60,789,646                       -             4,415,904         65,205,550 

      Total capital assets being      

        depreciated       242,850,663              231,303           9,464,988       252,546,954 

Total accumulated depreciation     (116,070,518)       (10,129,258)              266,356     (125,933,420)

Net capital assets  $   188,744,416  $     28,048,289  $        (195,389)  $   216,597,316 
 

 

A summary of changes in capital assets during fiscal 2015 and 2014 is as follows: 
 

Transfers/

June 30, 2014 Additions Disposals June 30, 2015

Capital assets not being depreciated:

  Land  $     38,909,689  $       2,164,358  $                   -    $     41,074,047 

  Construction-in-process         62,776,368         31,588,710       (73,474,854)         20,890,224 

      Total capital assets not being

        depreciated       101,686,057         33,753,068       (73,474,854)         61,964,271 

Capital assets being depreciated:

  Buildings and equipment       109,448,991              208,640         72,403,386       182,061,017 

  Runways         68,012,061                       -           (7,222,415)         60,789,646 

      Total capital assets being      

        depreciated       177,461,052              208,640         65,180,971       242,850,663 

Total accumulated depreciation     (114,065,630)         (9,725,558)           7,720,670     (116,070,518)

Net capital assets  $   165,081,479  $     24,236,150  $        (573,213)  $   188,744,416 

 
 

Interest costs charged to expense for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 totaled $155,496 and $175,614, 
respectively. 
 
   



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 

 25 

Note 7—Revenue bonds 
 
A summary of the revenue bond changes during fiscal 2016 and 2015 is as follows: 
 

Outstanding Net Cash Outstanding Current

June 30, 2015 Disbursement June 30, 2016 Portion

Revenue bonds:

Series 2001B  $        2,575,000  $          (295,000)  $        2,280,000  $           320,000 

Total  $        2,575,000  $          (295,000)  $        2,280,000  $           320,000 

Outstanding Net Cash Outstanding Current

June 30, 2014 Disbursement June 30, 2015 Portion

Revenue bonds:

Series 2001B  $        2,855,000  $          (280,000)  $        2,575,000  $           295,000 

Total  $        2,855,000  $          (280,000)  $        2,575,000  $           295,000 

 
 

Series 2001 Bonds – In August 2001, the Airport issued $4,990,000 of taxable revenue bonds (“Series 2001B 
Bonds”). Proceeds of the issuances were used to construct a new rental car facility and related improvements. 
Interest is payable semiannually on July 1 and January 1. Annual principal installments are due on July 1 and 
commenced on July 1, 2003. The Series 2001B Bonds are composed of serial bonds which bear interest at 
rates between 4.4% and 6.2% annually.  
 
Under the terms of the Series 2001 Bonds, the Airport is subject to certain covenants including, but not limited 
to, limitations on the transfer or sale of assets, limitations on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, 
maintenance of adequate insurance coverage on property, and maintenance of a minimum level of net 
revenues, as defined, to aggregate annual debt service. As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, Airport management 
believes the Airport is in compliance with these restrictive covenants.  
 
The future debt service requirements of the Series 2001 Bonds are as follows as of June 30, 2016: 
 

Principal Interest Total

2017 320,000$            155,496$            475,496$          

2018 340,000              133,672              473,672            

2019 365,000              110,484              475,484            

2020 390,000              85,591                475,591            

2021 420,000              58,993                478,993            

2022 445,000              30,349                475,349            

Total 2,280,000$         574,585$            2,854,585$       

 
   



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 

 26 

Note 8—Unearned credits 
 
In accordance with the Rental Car bond resolution, the Airport lent the service center project $3,500,000 plus 
$400,000 in capitalized interest.  $3,900,000 was recorded as a note receivable and unearned revenue as of 
June 30, 2003.  This amount is being amortized over 20 years at 5.5% and repaid out of CFC funds.  The 
portion that reduced the note receivable and unearned revenue for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016 and 
2015, was $217,568 and $206,226, respectively, with a remaining balance of $1,816,820 and $2,034,388, 
respectively.   
 

Note 9—Capital contributions 
 
For the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Airport recognized capital contributions primarily from the 
FAA totaling $3,341,221 and $6,523,985, respectively, in its statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in 
net position. 
 

Note 10—Operating leases (lessor) 
 
The Airport leases space to tenants via non-cancelable operating leases with terms of 5 to 30 years.  The 
following is a schedule by year of future minimum rentals under these lease agreements as of June 30, 2016: 
 

2017 337,479$          

2018 328,321            

2019 236,912            

2020 164,919            

2021 133,889            

Thereafter 2,271,803         

3,473,323$       

The value of the leased property is as follows: 
 

Buildings 1,467,700$       

Less: accumulated depreciation (110,078)           

1,357,622$       

Note 11—Commitments and contingencies 
 
The Airport is party to various legal actions in the ordinary course of business from time to time. Management 
believes that such matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Airport’s financial condition, results of 
operations or cash flows. 
 
The Airport’s ability to derive net revenues from operations depends upon various factors, many of which are not 
within the control of the Airport. The primary sources of net revenues are parking revenues and the Airline 
Operating Agreements between the Airport and the airlines. The Airline Operating Agreements provide for the 
landing fees, terminal rentals, and ramp fees to be charged to the airlines. Should an airline default under the 
terms of the Airline Operating Agreement, management believes it can take certain actions to mitigate any 
potential adverse impact. 

 



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 

 27 

Note 11—Commitments and contingencies (continued) 
 
At any point in time, the U.S. economy, excess airline capacity, and industry-wide competition through airfare 
discounting may create significant constraints on the operations of the airlines. Due to these factors, the 
financial results of the Airport are largely dependent upon conditions in the national economy and the U.S. 
airline industry.  
 
The scheduled debt service requirements on the 2001 Bonds are guaranteed by third-party insurers. Debt 
service on the Series 2001 Bonds is insured by Financial Security Assurance, Inc. The ultimate ability of such 
insurers to meet their obligations with respect to the debt service requirements will be predicated on their future 
financial condition. 
 
Additionally, the Airport receives significant financial assistance from federal governmental agencies in the form 
of grants and other awards. The disbursement of resources received under such programs generally requires 
compliance with terms and conditions specified in the grant agreements and is subject to audit by grantor 
agencies. Management believes the Airport is in compliance with all such terms and conditions. 
 
The Airport had entered into commitments for construction contracts for $49,752,965, of which $6,002,173 is 
outstanding at June 30, 2016. 
 

Note 12—Pension plan and post‐retirement benefits 
 
Pension Plan – All Airport permanent employees are members of either the South Carolina Retirement System 
(“SCRS”) or the Police Officers Retirement System (“PORS”), collectively the “Plans”, cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plans administered by the Retirement Division of the State Budget and Control 
Board. The Plans offer retirement and disability benefits, cost of living adjustments on an ad hoc basis, life 
insurance benefits, and survivor benefits. The Plans’ provisions are established under Title 9 of the South 
Carolina Code of Laws.  
 
Plan members were required to contribute 8.16% and 8.74% of their annual covered salary to the Plan for 
SCRS and PORS, respectively, and the Airport contributes 11.06% and 13.54% for SCRS and PORS, 
respectively, which is an actuarially determined rate.  The Airport’s Plan-matching contribution in fiscal years 
2016, 2015 and 2014 was approximately $833,525, $689,240 and $585,900, respectively, and equaled the 
required contributions for those years.   
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District reported a liability of $10,446,431 and $9,311,330 for its proportionate 
share of the net pension liability of SCRS and PORS as of June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2015, respectively. The 
net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014, and the total pension liability used to 
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2014. The Airport’s 
proportion of the net pension liability was based on Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District’s long-term share of 
contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially 
determined. At June 30, 2015, the Airport’s proportion was 0.042039% and 0.11349% of the total SCRS and 
PORS pension liability, respectively.  At June 30, 2014, the Airport’s proportion was 0.041344% and 0.114560% 
of the total SCRS and PORS pension liability, respectively. 
 

   



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 

 28 

Note 12—Pension plan and post‐retirement benefits (continued) 
 
The Airport reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the SCRS and 
PORS retirement plans from the following sources as of June 30: 
 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Net difference between projected and 

actual earnings on SCRS and PORS 

investments -$                   32,267$         -$                   853,882$       

Contributions subsequent to the 

measurement date 605,499         -                     626,782         -                     

Difference in expected and actual 

experience in measurement of pension 

liability 366,968         -                     260,224         -                     

972,467$       32,267$         887,006$       853,882$       

2016 2015

The Airport’s contributions of $605,499 subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction 
of the net pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2017. Total pension expense for the period years ended 
June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2015 was $833,525 and $689,240, respectively. 
 
The following schedule reflects the Airport’s proportion of the amortization of the net balance of remaining deferred 
outflows / (inflows) of resources of the SCRS at the measurement date of June 30, 2016: 
 

SCRS PORS

(49,495)$        (1,017)$          

(49,495)          (1,017)            

(840)               1,148             

(176,789)        (57,196)          

-                     -                     

(276,619)$      (58,082)$        

Thereafter

Net Balance of Deferred (Outflows)/Inflows of Resources

2018

Measurement Period Ending June 30,
2017

2019

2020

Actuarial Assumptions – Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the reported amounts and assumptions about 
the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, 
morality, and future salary increases. Amounts determined during the valuation process are subject to continual 
revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. 
South Carolina state statute requires that an actuarial experience study be completed at least once in each five-
year period. The last experience study was performed on data through June 30, 2010, and the next experience 
study is scheduled to be conducted after the June 30, 2015 annual valuation is complete. 
 

   



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 

 29 

Note 12—Pension plan and post‐retirement benefits (continued) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions (continued) – The most recent annual actuarial valuation reports adopted by the Public 
Employee Benefit Authority Board and the SC Budget and Control Board are as of July 1, 2013. The total 
pension liability in that report was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods 
included in the measurement. 
 

 SCRS   PORS 
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal  Entry age normal 
Investment rate of return 7.5%  7.5% 
Projected salary increases (varies by service) 3.5% to 12.5%  4% to 10% 
Inflation 2.75%  2.75% 
Benefit adjustment Lesser of 1% or $500  Lesser of 1% or $500 

 
The post-retiree mortality assumption is dependent upon the member’s job category and gender. This 
assumption includes base rates which are automatically adjusted for future improvement in morality using 
published Scale AA projected from the year 2000. 
 

Former Job Class Males Females 
   

Educators and Judges RP-2000 Males (with White Collar 
adjustment) multiplied by 110% 

RP-2000 Females (with White Collar 
adjustment) multiplied by 95% 

   
General Employees and Members 

of the General Assembly 
RP-2000 Males multiplied by 100% PR-2000 Females multiplied by 90% 

   
Public Safety, Firefighters and 
members of the South Carolina 

National Guard 

RP-2000 Males (with Blue Collar 
adjustment) multiplied by 115% 

RP-2000 Females (with Blue Collar 
adjustment) multiplied by 115% 

 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments for actuarial purposes is based upon the 
30-year capital market outlook at the end of the third quarter of 2012. The actuarial long-term expected rates 
of return represent best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class and were 
developed in coordination with the investment consultant for the Retirement System Investment Commission 
(“RSIC”) using a building-block approach, reflecting observable inflation and interest rate information available 
in the fixed income markets as well as Consensus Economic forecasts. The actuarial long-term assumptions 
for other asset classes are based on historical results, current market characteristics and professional 
judgment.  
 
  



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 

 30 

Note 12—Pension plan and post‐retirement benefits (continued) 
 
The RSIC has exclusive authority to invest and manage the retirement trust funds’ assets. As co-fiduciary of the 
SCRS, statutory provisions and governance policies allow the RSIC to operate in a manner consistent with a long-
term investment time horizon. The expected real rates of investment return, along with the expected inflation rate, 
form the basis for the target asset allocation adopted annually by the RSIC. For actuarial purposes, the long-term 
expected rate of return is calculated by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target allocation 
percentage and then adding the actuarial expected inflation. For actuarial purposes for the years ended             
June 30, 2016 and 2015, the 7.50% assumed annual investment rate of return used in the calculation of the total 
pension liability includes a 4.75% real rate of return and a 2.75% inflation component. The target asset allocations 
and the long-term expected real rates of return are as follows: 
 

SCRS PORS

(49,495)$        (1,017)$          

(49,495)          (1,017)            

(840)               1,148             

(176,789)        (57,196)          

-                     -                     

(276,619)$      (58,082)$        

Thereafter

Net Balance of Deferred (Outflows)/Inflows of Resources

2018

Measurement Period Ending June 30,
2017

2019

2020

 
Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.50% for the years ended              
June 30, 2016 and 2015. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that 
contributions from participating employers in SCRS will be made based on the actuarially determined rates based 
on provisions in the South Carolina State Code of Laws. Based on those assumptions, the fiduciary net position of 
SCRS was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of 
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
 

   



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 

 31 

Note 12—Pension plan and post‐retirement benefits (continued) 
 
Sensitivity of the Airport’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate – 
The following table presents the net pension liability the Airport calculated using the discount rate of 7.50%, as 
well as what the Airport’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1.00% 
lower (6.50%) or 1.00% higher (8.50%) than the current rate. 
 

1.00% Decrease        
(6.50%)

Current Discount Rate 
(7.50%)

1.00% Increase Rate 
(8.50%)

SCRS 10,051,547$                  7,972,910$                     6,230,727$                     

PORS 3,369,499$                    2,473,521$                     1,672,545$                     

1.00% Decrease        
(6.50%)

Current Discount Rate 
(7.50%)

1.00% Increase Rate 
(8.50%)

SCRS 9,211,218$                    7,118,114$                     5,371,777$                     

PORS 3,064,895$                    2,193,216$                     1,471,886$                     

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate as of:

June 30, 2016

June 30, 2015

 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position and Required Supplementary Information – The SCRS issues a publicly available 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report that includes the fiduciary net position and required supplementary 
information for the SCRS. The pension plan’s fiduciary net position has been determined on the same basis 
used by the pension plan. The report is publicly available on the South Carolina Public Employee Benefit 
Authority’s (“PEBA”) Retirement Benefits’ website at http://www.retirement.sc.gov, or a copy may be obtained by 
submitting a request to PEBA, PO Box 11960, Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1960. 
 
Other Post-retirement Benefits – The Airport matches 100% of employee contributions to the South Carolina 
Deferred Compensation Program (“SCDCP”) 401(k) and/or 457 plans up to 5% of the employee’s gross income.   
 
The Airport’s SCDCP matching contribution in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 was $108,295 
and $98,137, respectively. 
 

Note 13—Restricted assets 
 
Certain proceeds from the Airport’s debt service accounts and reserve funds held by their bond trustee, as well 
as its CFC receipts and receivables not yet spent at year-end, are classified as restricted assets on the 
statements of net position because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants and concession 
agreements. The Investments – Held by Trustee account is used to represent resources set aside to subsidize 
potential deficiencies from the Airport’s operations that could adversely affect debt service payments. The Cash 
and Receivables accounts represent contract facility charges that have either been received or earned by the 
Airport but not yet spent as of June 30, 2016 and 2015. These funds are to be used by the Airport to either 
prepay their 2001 revenue bonds or to fund additional improvements to the rental car facilities at the Airport. 
 

 
 
   



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015 
 
 

 32 

Note 14—Risk management 
 
The Airport, like other business enterprises, is exposed to various risks including, but not limited to, fire, 
accident, natural disasters, fraud, torts, error and omissions, environmental incidents, cybercrime, 
damage/destruction of assets, as well as other causal factors.  The following polices are carried by the Airport to 
protect against such risks and are competitively bid out each year with an insurance brokerage firm: 
 

• General liability, war risk, non-owned aircraft liability, and hangarkeepers, 
• Commercial Crime (Dishonesty, Forgery, Computer and Funds Transfer Fraud), 
• Public officials liability (Directors & Officers (“D&O”) liability, Professional Liability Insurance), 
• Workers Compensation, 
• Auto comprehensive/collision/liability, 
• Building and personal property, 
• Environmental mitigation, 
• Terminal Improvement Program Builder’s Risk, and 
• Inland marine 

 
The Airport has not significantly reduced any of its insurance coverage from the prior year, and settled claims 
have not exceeded the Airport’s insurance coverage in the past five years.  
 

Note 15—Subsequent Events 
 
On September 8, 2016, the Airport entered into a $25 million revolving credit facility provided by T.D. Bank, 
N.A., secured by a lien on the Net Revenues of the Airport.  All notes from this line of credit will bear interest at a 
variable rate equal to one-month LIBOR plus 0.75%, adjusted monthly.  On September 23, 2016, the Airport 
received an advance in the amount of $2,164,358. 
 

* * * * *  



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
SCHEDULE OF THE AIRPORT’S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 (UNAUDITED) 
 
 

 33 

Airport's

Proportionate 
Share of the  Plan Fiduciary

Airport's Net Pension Net Position
Airport's Proportionate  Liability as a  as a Percentage

Proportion of Share of the  Airport's Percentage  of the Total
Fiscal Net Pension Net Pension Total of Total Pension

Year Liability Liability Payroll Payroll Liability

South Carolina Retirement System
2015 0.042039% 7,972,899$        5,972,314$        133.5% 57.0%

2014 0.041344% 7,118,066          5,594,937          127.2% 59.9%

2013 0.041344% 7,415,639          5,251,528          141.2% 56.4%

Police Officers Retirement System
2015 0.113490% 2,940,141$        5,972,314$        49.2% 64.6%

2014 0.114560% 2,193,168          5,594,937          39.2% 67.5%

2013 0.114560% 2,374,797          5,251,528          45.2% 63.0%

This data is presented for those years which information is available 
 
 



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
SCHEDULE OF THE AIRPORT’S PENSION CONTRIBUTION 
 
JUNE 30, 2016 (UNAUDITED) 
 
 

 34 

Contributions

Actuarial  Contribution Airport's as a Percentage 
Fiscal Required  Actual  Deficiency Total  of Total
Year Contribution Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll

South Carolina Retirement System
2016 513,824$           513,824$           -$                      5,972,314$        8.6%

2015 429,644             429,644             -                        5,594,937          7.7%

2014 400,220             400,220             -                        5,251,528          7.6%

Police Officers Retirement System
2016 213,415$           213,415$           -$                      5,972,314$        3.6%

2015 188,544             188,544             -                        5,594,937          3.4%

2014 172,838             172,838             -                        5,251,528          3.3%

This data is presented for those years which information is available 
 
 



 

 

SINGLE AUDIT 

 



 

35 

Report of Independent Auditor on Internal Control Over Financial  
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on  

an Audit of Financial Statements Performed  
in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards  

 
 
To the Commissioners of 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District 
Greer, South Carolina 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the Greenville Spartanburg Airport District (the “Airport”), as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2016, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Airport’s 
basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 12, 2016. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Airport’s  internal control 
over financial reporting (“internal control”) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Airport’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Airport’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or, 
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not 
been identified. 

Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Airport’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of 
our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 



 

 36 

Purpose of this Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 

 
Greenville, South Carolina 
October 12, 2016 
 



 

37 

Report of Independent Auditor on Compliance for Each Major Program  
and on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance  

 
 
To the Commissioners of 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District 
Greer, South Carolina 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
We have audited Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District’s (the “Airport”) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material 
effect on each of the Airport’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2016. The Airport’s major 
federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of 
findings and questioned costs. 

Management’s Responsibility 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants 
applicable to its federal programs. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Airport’s major federal programs based 
on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). 
Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that 
could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a 
test basis, evidence about the University’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal 
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Airport’s compliance. 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
In our opinion, the Airport complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred 
to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended 
June 30, 2016. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
Management of the Airport is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our audit of 
compliance, we considered the Airport’s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that 
could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform 
Guidance but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Airport’s internal control over 
compliance. 



 

 38 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a 
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material 
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected 
and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important 
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist 
that have not been identified. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
Greenville, South Carolina 
October 12, 2016 

 

 



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 
 
 

39 

Total Federal
Expenditures

July 1, 2015 Cumulative July 1, 2015 July 1, 2015 Cumulative Maximum

Project Number and Description CFDA to to to to to Federal

(Notes 1 and 2) Number June 30, 2016 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2016 Participation

Department of Transportation - Airport

    Grant No. 3-45-0028-49 Apron

      Rehabilitation - (Constr) Phase I 20.106 4,024$           2,938,968$    3,475$           -$                   2,645,071$    2,828,410$    

    Grant No. 3-45-0028-50 Apron

      Rehabilitation - (Constr) Phase II 20.106 2,802,757      2,802,757      2,522,481      -                     -                     5,689,899      

    Grant No. 3-45-0028-51 Taxiway G

      Rehabilitation & Apron Rehabilitation

 (Design) Phase III 20.106 913,735         913,735         822,362         -                     -                     915,000         

Total Department of Transportation 3,720,516      6,655,460      3,348,318      -                     2,645,071      9,433,309      

Transportation Security Administration 97.090 119,790         2,357,771      90,090           90,090           2,178,337      2,313,455      

Total Federal Awards 3,840,306$    9,013,231$    3,438,408$    90,090$         4,823,408$    11,746,764$  

Grant Status ‐ Grant Funds
Total Project Costs Incurred Received from FAA

 



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 
 
 

40 

Note 1—Summary of significant accounting policies 

Basis of Presentation – The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards for the year ended   
June 30, 2016, for projects in effect from August 15, 2011 through June 30, 2016, was prepared using the 
accrual basis of accounting, taking into consideration costs incurred and payable at year end. 

Grant Descriptions – The Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District (the “Airport”) and the Federal Aviation 
Administration (“FAA”) entered into the following agreements: 

a. Grant agreement dated June 3, 2014 (Project #3-45-0028-49), provides funds to rehabilitate the Terminal 
Apron.  Under the provisions of the grant agreement, the FAA is to reimburse the airport for 90% of the 
allowable costs (60%) not to exceed $2,828,410. 

b. Grant agreement dated June 30, 2015 (Project #3-45-0028-50), provides funds to rehabilitate the Terminal 
Apron Phase II.  Under the provisions of the grant agreement, the FAA is to reimburse the airport for 90% of 
the allowable costs (60%) not to exceed $5,689,899. 

c. Grant agreement dated August 18, 2015 (Project #3-45-0028-51), provides funds to rehabilitate the 
Terminal Apron Phase III and Taxiway G.  Under the provisions of the grant agreement, the FAA is to 
reimburse the airport for 90% of the allowable costs (60%) not to exceed $915,000. 

The Airport and the Transportation Security Administration (“TSA”) are parties to a Law Enforcement Officer 
Agreement dated September 2, 2003, which provides reimbursement for the cost of law enforcement officers at 
the Airport’s passenger screening locations. This agreement was extended multiple times, with the most recent 
being April 1, 2016 to December 31, 2018. Under the provisions of the agreement, the TSA is to reimburse the 
Airport for 100% of the cost of law enforcement, not to exceed $331,650. 

Indirect Cost Rate – Under provision of the Uniform Guidance, the Airport is permitted to use a 10% de minimis 
indirect cost rate. The Airport elected not to use this rate.  

Note 2—Status of Projects 

As of June 30, 2016, the following projects were open: 

• Project #3-45-0028-49 

• Project #3-45-0028-50 

• Project #3-45-0028-51 

• Transportation Security Administration 

Note 3—Audits Performed by Other Organizations 

There were no audits performed by other organizations of the Airport’s federal award program for the year 
ended June 30, 2016. 

* * * * * *  



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 
 
 

41 

Section I.    Summary of Auditor’s Results 
 
Financial Statements 
Type of auditor’s report issued:      Unmodified 

 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

 

• Material weakness(es) identified?              yes    X     no 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified?              yes    X     none reported 

 

Noncompliance material to financial statements 

noted?                   yes    X     no 

 

Federal Awards 
 

Internal control over major programs: 

 

• Material weakness(es) identified?              yes     X    no 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified?              yes     X    no 

 

Noncompliance material to federal awards:               yes     X    no 

 
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs:   Unmodified 
 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to 

be reported in accordance with the Uniform Guidance             yes     X     no 

 

Identification of major programs: 

 

 CFDA#   Program Name  

 20.106 Department of Transportation- Airport Improvement Program 

 
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 

type A and type B programs:    $ 750,000 
 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?        X     yes           no 

 

Section II.  Financial Statement Findings 
 
No findings reported. 

 

Section III.  Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 
  
No findings reported. 
 



GREENVILLE‐SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT 
SCHEDULE STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 
 
 

42 

Section IV.  Summary of Prior Year Findings 
 
There were no prior year findings. 
 



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:  Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM:  Scott C. Carr, A.A.E., Vice President – Commercial Business & Properties 

 

DATE:  November 21, 2016 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – New Business I tem B 
 

Approval of Lease Terms for Alamo/National Rental Car Concessions Agreement 

Amendment # 1 and Associated Construction Project Funding  

 

BACKGROUND 
 

The Airport District has negotiated the terms of a lease amendment to the existing 

Alamo/National Rental Car concessions agreement dated December 18, 2012.  This 

amendment will be for the construction and subsequent lease of an additional 30,000 

square feet of pavement at their service facility.  This area will be used to store rental 

cars. 

 

I SSUES 
 

As deplanements have continued to grow at the Airport, the number of vehicles in the 

Alamo/National rental car fleet has increased approximately 40%  since 2012.  

Therefore, in order to meet growing rental car demand, the existing service facility 

parking area needs to be expanded.   

 

Staff has obtained a preliminary project cost estimate for this work of $343,500.  See 

attached estimate and associated aerial photo with highlighted proposed project limits. 

 

ALTERNATI VES 
 

No alternatives are recommended at the time. 

 

 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspaiport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business I tem B 

Approval of Lease Terms for Alamo/National Rental Car Concessions Agreement 

Amendment # 1 and Associated Construction Project Funding  

Page 2 

  

FI SCAL I MPACT 
 

The total estimated project cost of $343,500 will be covered by the Customer Facility 

Charge (CFC) fund.   This fund presently has a balance of over $1,400,000 and its use 

is restricted to rental car facility improvement projects and other operational related 

needs such as this proposed project. 

 

Alamo/National will subsequently lease the additional 30,000 square feet of parking 

space once the project is completed.  The per-square foot lease rate will be consistent 

with the rate being charged for the adjacent vehicle parking space at that time. 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTI ON 
   

I t is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission (1) approve the lease 

agreement amendment terms as outlined above, (2) authorize Staff to proceed with the 

project utilizing the CFC fund based on actual construction bids received, and (3) 

authorize the President/CEO to execute all necessary documents. 

  



Spec. No. Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Price Amount

1 01000 Mobilization 1 L.S. $30,000.00 $30,000.00

2 P-152 Unclassified Excavation - Waste 1,000 C.Y. $25.00 $25,000.00

3 P-403 SCDOT Type C Bituminous Surface Course 400 TON $200.00 $80,000.00

4 P-603 Bituminous Tack Coat 400 GAL. $5.00 $2,000.00

5 P-620 Permanent Pavement Markings 900 S.F. $2.00 $1,800.00

6 E-891 Inlet Protection 2 EACH $500.00 $1,000.00

7 E-893 Temporary Silt Fence 600 L.F. $5.00 $3,000.00

8 SC-305 SCDOT Macadam Base Course 600 C.Y. $65.00 $39,000.00

9 T-901 Grassing and Mulching 2 ACRE $3,000.00 $6,000.00

10 F-162 Relocate Chain-Link Fence 300 L.F. $20.00 $6,000.00

11 F-162 New Chain-Link Fence 200 L.F. $25.00 $5,000.00

12 F-162 Relocate 24' Single Leaf Cantilever Slide Gate 1 EACH $5,000.00 $5,000.00

13 L-108 Cable or Conduit Trench, in Earth 400 L.F. $6.00 $2,400.00

14 L-108 Cable, 1/C #10, 600V, Installed in Duct or Trench 400 L.F. $2.00 $800.00

15 L-110 Conduit, 2" PVC-40, Direct Burial, Complete, in Place 400 L.F. $5.00 $2,000.00

16 L-128 Liminaire, 400 Watt, Metal Halide, Complete, in Place 3 EACH $850.00 $2,550.00

17 L-128 Double Light Pole, 30 Ft, Fiberglass, Complete, in Place 3 EACH $3,000.00 $9,000.00

Subtotal Conceptual Construction Cost $220,550.00

Contingency (20%) $44,110.00

Total Conceptual Construction Cost $264,660.00

Total Conceptual Construction Cost Rounded $265,000

Design (SCDOT specs) $25,000.00

Survey $1,500.00

Land Disturbance Permitting $15,000.00

Bidding $12,000.00

Construction Administration (assume 30 days) $10,000.00

Construction Inspection (assume 30 days, part-time) $15,000.00

Estimated Professional Services $78,500

Total Conceptual Project Cost $343,500

CONCEPTUAL COST ESTIMATE

NATIONAL RENTAL CAR MX FACILITY EXPANSION (30,000 SF)

GREENVILLE-SPARTANBURG INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

Page 1 of 1 9/6/2016



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:  Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM:  Scott C. Carr, A.A.E., Vice President – Commercial Business & Properties 

 

DATE:  November 21, 2016 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – New Business I tem C 
 

Approval of Lease Terms/Agreement for CenterPoint Properties Ground Lease  

 

BACKGROUND 
 

CenterPoint Properties has negotiated an agreement with ProTrans to construct a 

230,256 square foot office and warehouse facility on 20.04 acres of land at the GSP 

International Logistics Park (Tract B). This property is located directly adjacent to the 

South Carolina Inland Port off of Verne Smith Parkway.   See attached reference map 

and proposed facility layout drawing. 

 

In addition, attached is some background information on ProTrans for review. They 

currently have several facilit ies located around the United States including Greer, SC. 

 

I SSUES 
 

Staff has negotiated ground lease terms with CenterPoint Properties for this project.  A 

summary of the primary business terms of the agreement are as follows:  

 

1. Base Term – Thirty (30) years 

2. Option Terms – Two ten (10) year options  

3. Lease Premises – Approximately 20.04 acres 

4. Ground Rental Rate – $64,128.00 annually for the Lease Premises.  

Rents shall be adjusted annually by CPI .  At the end of the base term and 

each option term, the rents will be readjusted to fair market value through 

reappraisal. 

5. Contract Security – 50%  of the annual rental fees 

6. District I mprovements – None 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspaiport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business I tem C 

Approval of Lease Terms/Agreement for CenterPoint Properties Ground Lease 

Page 2 

  

7. Lessee I mprovements – 230,256 square foot office and warehouse 

facility 

8. Maintenance – Lessee shall be responsible for all maintenance of the 

Premises. 

9. Utilities – Lessee is responsible for the cost of all utilit ies and usage 

charges on the Premises. 

10. I nsurance – Lessee will be required to provide hazard insurance, liability 

insurance, workers’ compensation insurance, and employer’s liability 

insurance. 

11. Taxes and Assessments – Lessee is responsible. 

12. Subleasing – Lessee must obtain written approval of the District to sublet 

the lease, which shall not unreasonably be withheld. 

13. Assignment  – Lessee must obtain written approval of the District to assign 

the lease, which shall not unreasonably be withheld. 

 

ALTERNATI VES 
 

No alternatives are recommended at the time. 

 

FI SCAL I MPACT 
 

Staff has negotiated a first year annual ground lease amount of $64,128.00.  This 

amount represents fair market value of $40,000 per acre with an 8%  CAP rate. 

 

Each subsequent year, throughout the term of the agreement, the annual lease rate 

escalates by CPI .   At the end of the base term and each option term, the rents will be 

readjusted to fair market value though reappraisal. 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTI ON 
   

I t is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission (1) approve the lease 

terms/agreement as outlined above and (2) authorize the President/CEO to execute a 

lease agreement with CenterPoint Properties. 

  







ProTrans

http://www.protrans.com/who-we-are[11/15/2016 9:08:30 AM]

 

Who we are is
 

 

 PERFECT FIT
 

 for a rewarding relationship
 

 

Over the past two decades, we’ve equipped an extensive roster of clients with impactful

logistics solutions — enabled just as much by our tools and services as they are by our

people. Driven by a culture of innovation and initiative, our dedicated, collaborative teams

fuel our triumphs and, more importantly, your success.

 

 

 

 

 

 

    Español

About ProTrans

WHAT WE DO HOW WE DO IT WHO WE ARE RESOURCES CARRIER PROGRAM CONTACT US CAREERSSearch

http://www.protrans.com/
http://www.protrans.com/who-we-are-es-ES
http://www.protrans.com/who-we-are-es-ES
https://www.facebook.com/ProTransInternational
https://twitter.com/ProTrans3PL
http://www.linkedin.com/company/protrans-international
https://plus.google.com/103344529023608748878/about
http://www.protrans.com/what-we-do
http://www.protrans.com/how-we-do-it
http://www.protrans.com/resources
http://www.protrans.com/carrier-program
http://www.protrans.com/contact-us
http://www.protrans.com/career


ProTrans

http://www.protrans.com/who-we-are[11/15/2016 9:08:30 AM]

  

 

About ProTrans

A perfect blend of experience and forward-thinking

ProTrans is committed to providing innovative logistics solutions that meet or exceed our customers’ needs

and expectations. We encourage our business partners to support ProTrans’ Corporate Social Responsibility

(CSR) and Sustainability initiatives consisting of social, environmental, business conduct and compliance

programs integrated in ProTrans’ operational systems and corporate strategy.

 

 

 

ProTrans will accomplish this by:

Providing a visionary approach to value added service enhancements, effective internal and
external communications, and commitment to maintaining leading edge technology;

Developing highly skilled, effective, and professional personnel/organization;

Working with suppliers to optimize supply chain efficiencies;

Creating value for customers, suppliers, employees, and shareholders;

Focusing on continual improvement opportunities throughout our key quality processes for our
external and internal customers that increase efficiencies and profitability.

Promotion of practices that contribute to the following:

Corporate Social Responsibility : practices that contribute to the quality of life of both
employees and communities that could be impacted by the company’s operations (such as
non-discrimination, health and safety at work, respect for human rights, etc.)

Resource Management & Environmental Protection : sustainability practices that
contribute to the quality of environment on a long-term basis (such as recycling, energy
efficiency, water conservation, carbon emission controls via Smartway certification
governed by EPA – Environmental Protection Agency, USA, etc.)

Business Conduct and Compliance : principles that guide business conduct in its
relations towards its business partners and customers (such as: ethical policy against
corruption, bribery, extortion, etc.)

  

  

 

  



ProTrans

http://www.protrans.com/who-we-are[11/15/2016 9:08:30 AM]

1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

  

Company history

Our road to success

Founded in 1993, ProTrans launched as a response to emerging opportunities in consolidations and logistics

services — supporting manufacturing markets from the Midwest to Texas, and into Mexico. Through this business

model, we provided cost savings to clients as we consolidated their freight.

In 1994, The North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) was signed to promote economic growth between

the US, Canada and Mexico by easing the movement of goods and services. We saw the chance to participate in

the emerging maquiladora operations along the US/Mexico border and transformed their initial business plan to

allow us to expand and diversify their service offerings.

Now, we provide customers with creatively engineered solutions. Our success is directly attributed to the

dedication, perseverance and flexibility inherent in each member of our team. Our commitment to recruiting,

developing and maintaining a high-quality workforce will continue to drive our success. And lastly, our ongoing

utilization and enhancement of technology and communication tools will only ensure our continued growth.

  

  

  

 

+ + + + + + + + + + +

A history of making strides to become a Perfect Fit

 



ProTrans

http://www.protrans.com/who-we-are[11/15/2016 9:08:30 AM]

Craig Roeder Shawn Masters Lisa Doerner John Woods Allen Phelps Chris Blunk Kathy Joy

Craig Roeder, Chief Executive Officer

Craig shepherds the company in our quest to continuously develop innovative solutions and products for our clients. He started

ProTrans in 1993 with just a few employees and a vision of providing something different. Today, he leads over 850 employees in the

United States, Mexico and Canada.

Prior to ProTrans, Craig worked many years in logistics both as an entrepreneur and at RCA. He holds an accounting degree from

Indiana University and resides in Indianapolis, devoting much of his time to family and the community.

  

 

Management Team

Expertise unlike any other

 

 



ProTrans

http://www.protrans.com/who-we-are[11/15/2016 9:08:30 AM]

 

 
 

  

  

  

Industry Certifications

Certified logistics professionals

ProTrans holds the following industry certifications

ISO 9001:2008 Certification

3PL C-TPAT Certification

SmartWay Certification (EPA Initiative)

Lean Six Sigma

  

  

 

  



ProTrans

http://www.protrans.com/who-we-are[11/15/2016 9:08:30 AM]

Social Responsibility
 

Social Initiatives

ProTrans’ Social Responsibility is aimed to enhance our communities and protect

the quality of life of its employees. Some examples of ProTrans initiatives are:

Health/safety program is implemented at all ProTrans centers (e.g.

Safety Process Walks)

Charity support/fund raising activities including blood donation program

are part of ProTrans culture.

ProTrans provides community support to local universities by offering

opportunities to students to gain experience and professional

development via our Talent Development Program

 

 
 

  

Corporate Social Responsibility

Making a difference

ProTrans success is founded on its commitment to provide a healthy, efficient and safe

environment to protect its employees, business partners and the society’s qualify of life and

resources.

ProTrans encourages its employees and business partners to understand and embrace

these sustainability initiatives to achieve a ‘greener’, dynamic and fair supply chain

system. Some of ProTrans’ sustainability program includes:

  

  

Resource Management &
Environment Protection

Business Conduct and Ethics

> Social Responsibility
  

    

  

  

  

  

 

  



ProTrans

http://www.protrans.com/who-we-are[11/15/2016 9:08:30 AM]

  

 

Year Host Award

1996 Emerson Motors Procurement Group Distinguished Supplier Award

1996 Ernst & Young Entrepreneur Of The Year

1996 Center for Entrepreneurship & Innovation Indiana Leading High Potential Companies

1999 Ernst & Young Entrepreneur Of The Year

1999 Inc. 500/5000 Fastest Growing Private Companies in America

2001
The Johnson Center for Entrepreneurship &

Innovation
Indiana Leading High Potential Companies

2003 Visteon Corporation
Visteon Important Partner: North American Transport Supplier of the

Year

2004 BKD Indiana Excellence Award Silver Winner: Manufacturing & Distribution

2005 BKD Indiana Excellence Award Silver Winner: Manufacturing & Distribution

2011 Shure Americas Outstanding Consolidation Services

2011 Shure Americas Best Value Add Domestic Carrier

2011 Delphi Above & Beyond

2012 Inc. 500/5000 Fastest Growing Private Companies in America

2012 Inc. Hire Power: Top Private Business Job Creators

2012 Inbound Logistics Top 100 Third-Party Logistics Provider

2012 Delphi Delphi Pinacle Award for Supplier Excellence: Technology

2013 Inbound Logistics Top 100 Third-Party Logistics Provider

2013 Delphi Delphi Pinacle Award for Supplier Excellence: Technology

2013 Supply Chain Brain 100 Great Supply Chain Partners

2013 Inc. Magazine Hire Power: Top Private Business Job Creators

 Awards

 

  

   

   

   

   

FAQ PRIVACY POLICY SITE MAP



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: David Edwards, President/CEO 

 

DATE: November 21, 2016 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – I nformation Section I tem A 
 
September 2016 - Traffic Report 

 

SUMMARY 
 

For September 2016, passenger traffic was strong at 8.5%  over the same month in 

2015. Cargo numbers for September 2016 were significantly up at 20.4% .  Load 

factors continue to be good with an overall average of 80.8% . 

 

A comparison of the North America National Passenger Traffic Growth Averages for 

2016 to GSP’s Passenger Traffic Growth is depicted below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspaiport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem A 

September 2016 - Traffic Report 

Page 2 

  

Attached are copies of the detailed traffic report for September 2016. 

 

Providing a look forward into the service levels for December 2016 is a schedule 

comparison for the month vs the same month last year, including flights and seats by 

airline and non-stop markets served. As such, flights are down slightly at 2.9%  and 

seats are off a bit at minus 0.6% . 

 

 



Sep 2016 Sep 2015
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2016 *CYTD-2015
Percentage

ChangeCategory *MOV12-2016 *MOV12-2015
Percentage

Change

Monthly Traffic Report
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
September 2016

Passenger Traffic

Enplaned

Deplaned

91,129

88,781

83,142

82,731

748,939 714,621

743,443 709,611

9.6%

7.3%

Total 179,910 165,873 8.5% 1,492,382 1,424,232

4.8%

4.8%

4.8%

1,009,619

999,133

958,078

949,964

2,008,752 1,908,042 5.3%

5.4%

5.2%

Cargo Traffic (Pounds)

Express and Mail

Freight

Total

1,049,932

813,909

1,846,235

2,510,710

3,398

678

2,851,017

2,313,693

Enplaned

Deplaned

Enplaned

Deplaned

Subtotal

Subtotal

30798.5%

119945.6%

-35.2%

8.5%

4,356,945 5,164,710 -15.6%

1,863,841 4,076 45627.2%

6,220,786 5,168,786 20.4%

6,389,397

4,928,414

18,027,684

18,550,099

21,407

16,856

24,029,507

20,306,511

6,393,418

4,930,687

26,226,919

25,721,396

31,609

36,330

33,105,452

27,471,173

20126.6%

13471.9%

-20.8%

-6.4%

-14.2%

16568.0%

4.3%

29747.2%

29138.3%

-25.0%

-8.6%

-17.5%

29479.0%

7.9%

36,577,783 44,336,018

11,317,811 38,263

47,896,543 44,374,329

51,948,315 60,576,625

11,324,105 67,939

63,273,369 60,644,612

Friday, November 04, 2016

*CYTD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.

Page 1 of 2



Sep 2016 Sep 2015
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2016 *CYTD-2015
Percentage

ChangeCategory *MOV12-2016 *MOV12-2015
Percentage

Change

Monthly Traffic Report
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
September 2016

Aircraft Operations

Airlines

Commuter
/Air Taxi

Subtotal

General
Aviation

Military

Subtotal

1,699 1,107

706

1,188 1,732

685

119 80

2,887

Total

2,839

825 765

3,712 3,604

53.5%

-31.4%

1.7%

3.1%

48.8%

7.8%

3.0%

12,716

13,063

1,348

9,811

14,826

924

13,019

20,643

1,166

16,155

18,482

1,731

29.6%

-11.9%

4.6%

-3.9%

45.9%

2.0%

4.0%

24.1%

-10.5%

2.9%

-4.2%

48.5%

1.7%

2.6%

25,779 24,637 34,637 33,662

6,566 6,836 8,782 9,168

7,914 7,760

33,693 32,397

10,513 10,334

45,150 43,996

Fuel Gallons

100LL

Jet A (GA)

Subtotal

Jet A (A/L)

Total

88,874

1,988

731,890

67,088

3,099

878,427

496,490

20,834

7,105,534

521,396

30,327

7,144,165

663,856

29,226

9,746,904

724,484

41,007

9,936,823

90,862 70,187 29.5% -6.2% -9.5%517,324 551,723 693,082 765,491

822,752 948,614 -13.3% -0.9% -2.5%7,622,858 7,695,888 10,439,986 10,702,314

-35.9%

32.5%

-31.3%

-4.8%

-28.7%

-8.4%

-16.7% -0.5% -1.9%

Friday, November 04, 2016

*CYTD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.

Page 2 of 2



Scheduled Airline Enplanements, Seats, and 
Load Factors
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
September 2016

Sep 2016 Sep 2015
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2016 *CYTD-2015
Percentage

Change

6,992

4,952

6,716

Allegiant Air

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

4.6%

4.1%

74.1% 73.7% 0.5%

51,424

62,644

50,424

59,969

82.1% 84.1%

2.0%

4.5%

-2.4%

5,182

31,183

4,829

5,784

American Airlines

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

449.7%

439.1%

85.1% 83.5% 2.0%

208,089

255,264

40,407

47,221

81.5% 85.6%

415.0%

440.6%

-4.7%

26,547

41,312

31,343

37,020

Delta Air Lines

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

9.2%

11.6%

82.8% 84.7% -2.2%

273,348

315,610

255,918

293,423

86.6% 87.2%

6.8%

7.6%

-0.7%

34,221

12,703

11,154

16,289

Southwest Airlines

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

-26.5%

-22.0%

64.5% 68.5% -5.7%

88,045

136,846

106,558

152,271

64.3% 70.0%

-17.4%

-10.1%

-8.1%

8,199

Friday, November 04, 2016 *CTYD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.



Sep 2016 Sep 2015
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2016 *CYTD-2015
Percentage

Change

20,484

13,300

16,069

United Airlines

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

24.2%

27.5%

80.6% 82.8% -2.6%

120,036

139,221

106,263

126,340

86.2% 84.1%

13.0%

10.2%

2.5%

16,520

0

17,010

21,757

US Airways

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

-100.0%

-100.0%

#Num! 78.2% #Type!

0

0

149,849

180,618

#Num! 83.0%

-100.0%

-100.0%

#Type!

0

90,669

112,674

82,588

103,635

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

9.8%

8.7%

80.5% 79.7% 1.0%

Totals

740,942

909,585

709,419

859,842

4.4%

5.8%

81.5% 82.5% -1.3%

Friday, November 04, 2016 *CTYD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.



Monthly Enplanements By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

E
n
p
la

n
e
m

e
n
ts

Jan Feb  Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

0

10000

20000

30000

40000

50000

60000

70000

80000

90000

100000

2014 ‐ 65785 ‐ 60862 ‐ 77715 ‐ 81592 ‐ 87611 ‐ 88079 ‐ 86553 ‐ 82866 ‐ 81045 ‐ 86164 ‐ 78958 ‐ 78335

2015 ‐ 67179 ‐ 60393 ‐ 74551 ‐ 81590 ‐ 86373 ‐ 87141 ‐ 88785 ‐ 85467 ‐ 83142 ‐ 93421 ‐ 85623 ‐ 81636

2016 ‐ 72305 ‐ 70290 ‐ 80039 ‐ 82515 ‐ 90484 ‐ 88648 ‐ 87590 ‐ 85939 ‐ 91129 ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank)

Friday, November 04, 2016



Monthly Seats By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

S
e
a
ts

Jan Feb  Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

120000

2014 ‐ 88767 ‐ 77296 ‐ 94490 ‐ 96811 ‐ 100079 ‐ 98831 ‐ 97012 ‐ 96356 ‐ 95579 ‐ 101779 ‐ 98226 ‐ 92951

2015 ‐ 91860 ‐ 81527 ‐ 88868 ‐ 96494 ‐ 98516 ‐ 100519 ‐ 102048 ‐ 102920 ‐ 104568 ‐ 111284 ‐ 103747 ‐ 99099

2016 ‐ 92472 ‐ 86819 ‐ 100372 ‐ 97311 ‐ 106435 ‐ 105672 ‐ 106834 ‐ 108219 ‐ 112674 ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank)

Friday, November 04, 2016



Monthly Load Factors By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

L
o

a
d

 F
a

c
to

r

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2014 ‐ 74.11% ‐ 78.74% ‐ 82.25% ‐ 84.28% ‐ 87.54% ‐ 89.12% ‐ 89.22% ‐ 86.00% ‐ 84.79% ‐ 84.66% ‐ 80.38% ‐ 84.28%

2015 ‐ 73.13% ‐ 74.08% ‐ 83.89% ‐ 84.55% ‐ 87.67% ‐ 86.69% ‐ 87.00% ‐ 83.04% ‐ 79.51% ‐ 83.95% ‐ 82.53% ‐ 82.38%

2016 ‐ 78.19% ‐ 80.96% ‐ 79.74% ‐ 84.80% ‐ 85.01% ‐ 83.89% ‐ 81.99% ‐ 79.41% ‐ 80.88% ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank)

Friday, November 04, 2016



Total Monthly Passengers By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

T
o

ta
l 
P

a
s
s
e

n
g

e
rs

Jan Feb  Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

120000

140000

160000

180000

200000

2014 ‐ 131247 ‐ 119566 ‐ 154266 ‐ 161560 ‐ 174351 ‐ 173563 ‐ 172021 ‐ 166860 ‐ 160020 ‐ 171401 ‐ 158464 ‐ 153945

2015 ‐ 133961 ‐ 120469 ‐ 146714 ‐ 163861 ‐ 169796 ‐ 172977 ‐ 178967 ‐ 171614 ‐ 165873 ‐ 186344 ‐ 170565 ‐ 159461

2016 ‐ 144183 ‐ 139250 ‐ 159013 ‐ 165371 ‐ 179235 ‐ 174465 ‐ 172990 ‐ 177965 ‐ 179910 ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank) ‐ (Blank)

Friday, November 04, 2016



Scheduled Airline Market Shares (Enplanements)
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
Report Period From September 2016 Through September 2016

6%

29%

38%

9%

18%
0%

Allegiant Air

American Airlines

Delta Air Lines

Southwest Airlines

United Airlines

US Airways

Friday, November 04, 2016



Airline Flight Completions
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
September 2016

Airline

Scheduled
Flights

Cancellations Due To

Field Mechanical Weather Other
Percentage of

Completed Flights
Total

Cancellations

Aero Dynamics 2 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Aeronaves 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Allegiant Air 41 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Alliance Air Charter 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

American Airlines 510 0 9 1 0 98.2%10

Ameristar Jet Charter 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Berry Aviation 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Friday, November 04, 2016



Airline

Scheduled
Flights

Cancellations Due To

Field Mechanical Weather Other
Percentage of

Completed Flights
Total

Cancellations

Delta Air Lines 368 0 0 1 0 99.7%1

Events Air 2 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Federal Express 39 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Freight Runners Express 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Kalitta Charters II 5 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Miami Air 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Northern Air Cargo 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Royal Air Freight 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Southwest Airlines 89 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Friday, November 04, 2016



Airline

Scheduled
Flights

Cancellations Due To

Field Mechanical Weather Other
Percentage of

Completed Flights
Total

Cancellations

Sun Country Airlines 2 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

TSM 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

United Airlines 345 0 0 2 0 99.4%2

UPS 34 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

US Airways 0 0 0 0 0 #Num!0

USA Jet 2 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Volga-Dnepr 4 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Xtra Airways 3 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Total 0 9 4 01,455 13 99.1%

Friday, November 04, 2016



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: Jack G. Murrin, VP of Administration & Finance/CFO 

 

DATE: November 21, 2016 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – I nformation Section I tem B 
 
September 2016 – Financial Report 

 

SUMMARY 
 

Operating Income was up by 3.16%  when compared to the budget for Year-to-Date 

September 2016.  Operating Expenses were down by 16.47%  over the budgeted 

amount for the period.  Net operating income was up 42.07%  versus the budget 

through September 2016.  For the period ending September 2016, which represents 

three (3) months of the fiscal year, a total of about $3.57 million has been returned 

to the bottom line in operating income. 

 

Attached is a copy of the detailed financial report for September 2016. 

 

Please recognize that this is a preliminary report, unaudited, and only represents three 

months of activity resulting in variances from budget which can be quite volatile. 

 

 



September 30, 2016 FINANCIAL STATEMENT PACKAGE



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Current Month Current Month
Current FY Prior FY
9/30/2016 9/30/2015

Assets
Cash Accounts 10,747,699.33              9,572,849.91                

Investments-Airport 11,863,532.56              31,261,911.10              
Bond Trustee Assets 118,418.33                  118,874.51                  

Accounts Receivable 428,649.94                  71,480.66                    
Less: Reserve for Doubtful Accts -                              

Net Accounts Receivable 428,649.94                71,480.66                  

Inventory 173,235.84                  149,737.16                  
Prepaid Insurance 351,863.60                  267,665.81                  

Notes Receivable-RAC District Funds 1,759,436.09               1,979,996.06                

Property, Plant & Equipment (PP&E) 347,636,331.36            311,601,581.91            
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (128,707,226.44)          (118,954,868.14)           

Net PP&E 218,929,104.92        192,646,713.77        
TOTAL ASSETS 244,371,940.61        236,069,228.98        

PLUS: Deferred Outflows of Resources
Unamort Bond Underw, Insur, Legal Fees 972,466.85                  887,006.00                  

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 972,466.85                887,006.00                

LESS: Liabilities
Accounts Payable 1,081,831.54               1,140,519.23                
TD Bank LOC 2,164,358.00               -                              
Revenue Bonds Payable 1,993,415.11               2,318,871.12                
SCRS Pension Liability 10,446,431.00              9,311,330.00                
Benefit Liability 827,112.61                  803,234.13                  

TOTAL LIABILITIES 16,513,148.26          13,573,954.48           

LESS: Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred Revenues 1,791,703.09               2,833,878.06                

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 1,791,703.09             2,833,878.06             

NET POSITION
Invested in Capital Assets, net of Related Debt 216,969,104.92            190,366,713.77            

Restricted:
A/P - Capital Projects - Restricted 85,003.22                    80,003.39                    
Contract Facility Charge 2,118,248.96               2,092,026.77                

Total Restricted: 2,203,252.18               2,172,030.16                

Unrestricted 7,867,199.01               28,009,658.51              
TOTAL NET POSITION 227,039,556.11        220,548,402.44        

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

PROFIT and LOSS STATEMENT

September 30, 2016 September 30, 2016

Actual Budget Actual - Budget % Change

INCOME
Landing Area:

Landing Fees 658,328.07                    634,736.01                    23,592.06                 3.72%
Aircraft Parking Fees 97,524.60                      94,114.35                     3,410.25                   3.62%
FBO Into-Plane & Fuel Flowage 38,153.54                      23,761.26                     14,392.28                 60.57%

Subtotal Landing Area 794,006.21                    752,611.62                    41,394.59                 5.50%

Space & Ground Rentals 2,219,877.62                 2,163,162.21                 56,715.41                 2.62% (a)
Auto Parking 2,996,136.05                 2,889,144.21                 106,991.84               3.70% (b)
Commercial Ground Transportation 39,378.90                      33,750.00                     5,628.90                   16.68%

Concessions:
Advertising 60,982.50                      99,999.99                     (39,017.49)                -39.02% (c)
Food & Beverage 83,790.70                      92,662.50                     (8,871.80)                 -9.57%
Rental Car 865,192.64                    788,722.02                    76,470.62                 9.70% (d)
Retail 133,281.03                    127,250.01                    6,031.02                   4.74%

Subtotal Concessions 1,143,246.87                 1,108,634.52                 34,612.35                 3.12%

Expense Reimbursements 294,724.27                    301,482.66                    (6,758.39)                 -2.24%
Other Income 256,354.90                    258,030.45                    (1,675.55)                 -0.65%

Total Operating Income 7,743,724.82              7,506,815.67              236,909.15             3.16%

EXPENSES
Salary & Benefits 1,865,486.99                 2,614,590.72                 (749,103.73)              -28.65% (e)
Professional Services 104,785.14                    182,562.51                    (77,777.37)                -42.60% (f)
Promotional Activities 870,536.45                    320,101.23                    550,435.22               171.96% (g)
Administrative 217,899.45                    292,351.95                    (74,452.50)                -25.47% (h)
Insurance 106,026.24                    106,026.24                    -                          0.00%
Contractual Services 357,387.34                    661,733.76                    (304,346.42)              -45.99% (i)
Rentals & Leases 10,349.98                      45,768.27                     (35,418.29)                -77.39% (j)
Repairs & Maintenance 91,544.00                      144,730.74                    (53,186.74)                -36.75% (k)
Supplies & Equipment 141,693.18                    215,551.32                    (73,858.14)                -34.26% (l)
Utilities 402,644.53                    406,814.58                    (4,170.05)                 -1.03%

Total Operating Expenses 4,168,353.30              4,990,231.32              (821,878.02)           -16.47%

NET OPERATING INCOME 3,575,371.52    2,516,584.35    1,058,787.17 42.07%
-                               -                               

<---------------------------  FISCAL YEAR TO DATE  -------------------------------->

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

REVENUES AND EXPENSES TREND GRAPHS

$1.3

$1.5

$1.7

$1.9

$2.1

$2.3

$2.5

$2.7

$2.9

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

M
il

li
o

n
s 

CY Historical Operating Revenues 
(by Month by Year) 

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

$0.0

$0.5

$1.0

$1.5

$2.0

$2.5

$3.0

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

M
il

li
o

n
s 

CY Historical Operating Expenses 
(by Month by Year) 

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



September 30, 2016

(a) Space & Ground Rentals OVER BUDGET $56,715.41  - American leasehold clean-up renovations 7.5K
 - American-Piedmont -Ops leasehold renovations 37.8K

(b) Auto Parking OVER BUDGET $106,991.84  - Increase in traffic

(c) Advertising UNDER BUDGET $39,017.49  - Some advertising spots are unavailable currently due to construction

(d) Rental Car OVER BUDGET $76,470.62  - Increase in traffic

(e) Salary & Benefits UNDER BUDGET $749,103.73  - Timing: much of July's salary & benefits expense was related to June and 
 therefore booked back to June

 - Budgeted full year for FBO employees that won't be on payroll until Dec 2016

(f) Professional Services UNDER BUDGET $77,777.37  - Timing

(g) Promotional Activities OVER BUDGET $550,435.22  - Advertising expense 96K under budget YTD
 - Special Events expenses 46K under budget YTD
 - General marketing expenses 630K over budget YTD-Business Development expenses
   budgeted in prior year
 - Sponsorships expenses 63K over budget YTD

(h) Administrative UNDER BUDGET $74,452.50  - Travel/Training 13K under budget YTD
 - Dues & Subscriptions 22K under budget YTD
 - Corporate Function 17K under budget YTD

(i) Contractual Services UNDER BUDGET $304,346.42  - Management agreement expenses 102K under budget -
  (300K Centralized Distribution facility expenses not yet incurred)
 - Janitorial Services 84K under budget YTD
 - Computer-annual contracts 29K under budget YTD
 - Nursery & Landscaping 12K under budget YTD 
 - Elevator & Escalator 21K under budget YTD

(j) Rentals & Leases UNDER BUDGET $35,418.29  - Timing: expenses should increase over the year

(k) Repairs & Maintenance UNDER BUDGET $53,186.74  - Timing: expenses should increase over the year

YTD ACTUAL VS YTD BUDGET FOOTNOTES

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



September 30, 2016 YTD ACTUAL VS YTD BUDGET FOOTNOTES

(l) Supplies & Equipment UNDER BUDGET $73,858.14  - Timing: 
 - Computer-Software & Supplies 21K under budget YTD
 - Nursery & Landscaping 12K under budget YTD
 - Snow Removal 15K under budget YTD

Note: Please recognize that this is a preliminary report, unaudited, and only represents
Threee month of activity, resulting in variances which can be quite volatile.

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



Issue Maturity Interest Cost Basis or EOM FMV
Date Date Rate BOY FMV Par FMV Adj

US Treasury
UST T-Bill  4-wk 9/8/2016 10/6/2016 0.254% 4,999,027.80          5,000,000.00          4,999,027.80          -              

9/8/2016 10/6/2016 0.254% 4,999,027.80          5,000,000.00          4,999,027.80          -              

-              

Subtotal-UST 9,998,055.60       10,000,000.00    9,998,055.60$    -              

Weighted blended 

yield = 
0.2540%

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District
September 30, 2016

US Treasury Investment Types T-Bill T-Note T-Bond Fed Ag

  Negotiable Debt Obligation Yes Yes Yes Yes

  Backed by Gov Full Faith/Credit Yes Yes Yes No

  Maturity < 1 yr 1-7 yrs 7+ yrs 1-5 yrs

  Coupon-Bearing No Yes Yes Yes

  Interest is paid at Maturity Semi-Ann Semi-Ann Semi-Ann

  State & Local Tax Exemption Yes Yes Yes Only FHLB (*)

   (*) Note: Since GSP is a political subdivision of SC, w e are tax-exempt from all taxes, including state and local.

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

Terminal Improvement Project

cash basis cash basis cash basis
through: 9/30/2016

FYE YTD FYE YTD FYE YTD FYE YTD FYE YTD FYE
Budgeted 6/30/2012 6/30/2013 6/30/2014 6/30/2015 6/30/2016 6/30/2017 Total

Skanska 9,570,188$      35,931,932$    22,815,954$    31,914,360$    2,067,321$      102,299,755$  
Baker (aka LPA) 1,367,784$      2,742,449$      765,298$        1,051,980$      164,411$        6,091,922$      

RS&H 2,916,235$      2,650,023$      5,566,258$      
Jacobs 961,516$        885,315$        942,348$        394,840$        83,121$          3,267,139$      

Air-Transport IT Services 424,339$        424,339$        
RJ Design 65,350$          220,050$        285,400$        

At&t 205,594$        205,594$        
A3 Communications 170,341$        170,341$        
Warco Construction 153,350$        153,350$        

G2 Secure Staff 8,508$            85,979$          31,889$          126,376$        
McGriff 32,890$          51,436$          84,326$          

Project Link 42,509$          27,799$          70,307$          
CDW Government 1,911$            62,649$          3,062$            67,622$          

Phoenix Mechanical 62,000$          62,000$          
Michael M. Simpson 49,696$          9,957$            59,653$          

Parsons Brincke 50,000$          50,000$          
Tidewater Lumber 30,434$          1,908$            918$              33,260$          

I-SYS 31,277$          31,277$          
TPM 29,212$          29,212$          

Duke Energy 22,088$          22,088$          
Source Group 21,196$          21,196$          

Other 400$              57,128$          64,692$          87,935$          5,486$            895$              216,536$        
Total 123,762,496$  3,878,151$      14,786,745$    40,535,386$    24,696,747$    33,208,296$    2,232,627$      119,337,951$  

Cumulative $ Spent 3,878,151$      18,664,896$    59,200,282$    83,897,029$    117,105,325$  119,337,952$  
% of Budget spent 3.13% 15.08% 47.83% 67.79% 94.62% 96.42% 96.42%

Construction 9,635,538$      35,934,969$    22,953,017$    32,073,196$    2,067,321$      102,664,041$  
Professional 3,877,751$      5,002,818$      3,667,600$      993,082$        1,135,100$      164,411$        14,840,761$    

Owners Reserve 400$              148,389$        932,817$        750,649$        895$              1,833,149$      
Total -$               3,878,151$      14,786,745$    40,535,385$    24,696,747$    33,208,296$    2,232,627$      119,337,952$  

Cumulative $ Spent 3,878,151$      18,664,896$    59,200,281$    83,897,028$    117,105,325$  119,337,952$  

0$                  0$                  0$                  (0)$                 0$                  -$               (1)$                 

through: 9/30/2016
FYE FYE FYE FYE FYE YTD FYE

Budgeted 6/30/2012 6/30/2013 6/30/2014 6/30/2015 6/30/2016 6/30/2017 Total
Crawford Strategies 261,000$        10,900            61,157            75,948            76,776            60,253            21,800            306,834          
Launch Something 279,730$        25,870            90,133            23,045            20,604            10,146            -                 169,798          

Total 540,730$        36,770            151,290          98,993            97,379            70,399            21,800            476,632          

Cumulative $ Spent 36,770$          188,060$        287,053$        384,433$        454,832$        476,632$        
% of Budget spent 6.80% 34.78% 53.09% 71.10% 84.11% 88.15% 88.15%

TIP Public Relations Expenses

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

Other Operating and Maintenance Reserve Funds

FY $ Amount $ Amount

Authorized Date Used YTD
Emergency Repair/Replacement/Operations Fund 750,000$           

7/12/2016 3,000$            Barton Utilities Inc.

3,000$            
747,000$      Remaining Reserve

Business Development Obligations/Incentives 600,000$           

-$               
600,000$      Remaining Reserve

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



Procurement / Capital Acquisitions

Project/Item Description Date

Monthly $ 

Amount

Capital Improvements:
GLF / Apron Rehab Phase II 9/12/2016 1,030,390       
Avcon, Inc. / Apron Rehab Phase 2 9/30/2016 34,954           
Mecklenburg Roofing / RAC Roof Renovations 9/28/2016 142,316          
Pump Systems Technology / Runion Sewer 9/29/2016 124,898          
Avcon / Combined Hangar Project 9/30/2016 109,643          
Michael Baker / Hangar 2 Modification 9/30/2016 21,491           
Graham County Land Co. / Fuel Farm Site Prep 9/12/2016 257,305          

Equipment and Small Capital Outlays:
Arthur Stern / Terminal Art 9/8/2016 13,750           
Benson-Chrysler / Pickup Truck 9/8/2016 16,434           

Renewals and Replacements:
Mavin Construction / Airside Garden Rehab 9/12/2016 187,650          

Professional Service Projects:

Total Procurements/Capital Additions for the month 1,938,830$     

September, 2016



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: Kevin Howell, Vice President/COO 

 

DATE: November 21, 2016 

____________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – I nformation Section I tem C 
 

October 2016 – Development/Project Status Report 

 

SUMMARY 
 
Terminal I mprovement Program (TI P) : 
 

Status – Project wrap-up continues on the Enabling Package and Bag Claim/South 

Bridge Packages. The Core Phase construction is currently underway. 

Project Budget  – $125,000,000 

Estimated Completion Date – December 2016 

 

Enabling:  

 

SKM continues to work on several completion items from the Enabling Phase. The 

contractor also continues to work on Enabling punchlist work and closeout 

simultaneously. On September 15, 2015, SKM requested the Owner complete the 

punchlist inspections for specific remaining areas of work.  The Owner and CA Services 

Team completed these inspections and provided the punchlist reports to SKM. Some 

areas were not complete and not ready for inspection. SKM continues to work on the 

identified items.  

 

Bag Claim/South Bridge: 

 

The Bag Claim/South Bridge Phase continues to progress towards completion as SKM 

attempts to wrap up several completion and punchlist items simultaneously. On 

September 15, 2015, SKM requested the Owner complete the punchlist inspections for 

specific remaining areas of work.  The Owner and CA Services Team completed these 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem C 

October 2016 – Development/Project Status Report 

Page 2 

 

inspections and provided the punchlist reports to SKM. Some areas were not complete 

and not ready for inspection. SKM continues to work on the identified items.  

 

Core & Concourse: 

 

During the month of October in the Grand Hall area, the new water features were being 

prepared for equipment and finish stone. The overhead ceiling work was being 

completed with a few aesthetic touches at the corners, and the monumental columns 

have been wrapped and are nearing completion. The Grand Hall restrooms are coming 

together slower than earlier anticipated. Both the north and south exit lanes are open 

to the general public, but door hardware issues preclude the areas from being 

considered 100%  complete.  

 

Work in the new Administration offices and new first floor Conference Center continues, 

but progress is slow. Work in the new administration area includes the office doors and 

hardware as well as the new hardwood and carpeted floor finishes. The lumber for the 

floors includes the wood recycled from the trees that were removed from the parking 

lot at the beginning of the project. Much of the administration parking lot will be 

wrapping up this month as well. New light site lighting and paving are expected to be 

completed also. The new conference rooms on the first level is receiving final finish 

treatments including doors, windows, wall treatment and overhead finishes.  

 

During the month of October, the Core Construction phase continues with work 

progressing on both concourses. Work in the gate areas is finalizing including gate 

counters, podiums, and carpeting. Paging systems are coming online and wall 

treatments are being completed.  The new down-escalators are expected to be 

operational before Thanksgiving, but work will be remaining for the adjacent stairs and 

railings. The retrofit to the existing elevators is nearly complete and tile floors are being 

completed.   

 

SKM still has work to complete including the terrace handrails and emergency exit gates 

in the garden. 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem C 

October 2016 – Development/Project Status Report 

Page 3 

 

Core & Concourse Project Photos 

 

 
 

Terrazzo Art Install at Base of Escalator 

  



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem C 

October 2016 – Development/Project Status Report 

Page 4 

 

 

 

 
 

Garden Terrace Wall 

 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem C 

October 2016 – Development/Project Status Report 

Page 5 

 

 
 

Administrative Offices Wood Floor Installation 

 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem C 

October 2016 – Development/Project Status Report 

Page 6 

 

 
 

New Down Escalator Installation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem C 

October 2016 – Development/Project Status Report 

Page 7 

 

TIP Core financial activity occurring thru October 2016 

  

 
 

 
 

  



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem C 

October 2016 – Development/Project Status Report 

Page 8 

 

Apron Rehabilitation Project Phase 2: 
 

Status – Close out Phase 

Project Budget – $5,800,000  

Estimated Completion Date – November 2016 

 

The Apron Rehabilitation Project Phase 2 includes the Year 2 recommended items 

outlined in the 2012 LPA Apron Pavement Study. Year 2 priority items included 

rehabilitation of the B concourse concrete apron surfaces from the building to the new 

trench drain (Apron Rehab Phase 1), and from the new trench drain to the apron taxi 

lane.  

 

Project engineering is led by AVCON, Inc. GLF Construction is the contractor for the 

project. The project had significant weather impacts during the first six months. The 

project is substantially complete. The contractor and engineer are working on punchlist 

items and close out documents. 

 
Apron Rehabilitation Project Phase 3: 
 

Status – Construction Phase 

Project Budget – $5,000,000 

Estimated Completion Date – Fall 2017 

 

The Apron Rehabilitation Project Phase 3 includes the Year 3 recommended items 

outlined in the 2012 LPA Apron Pavement Study. Year 3 priority items included 

rehabilitation of the A concourse concrete apron surfaces from the building to the new 

trench drain (Apron Rehab Phase 1), and from the new trench drain to the apron taxi 

lane.  

 

Project engineering is led by AVCON, Inc. Three bids were received on June 28, 2016. 

All bids received exceeded the proposed AIP grant amount. GLF is the contractor for the 

project. GLF is currently working on phase 1 of the project, which includes widening the 

apron taxilane towards taxiway L. A winter weather shutdown is anticipated after the 

first phase is complete.   

 
Airside Garden Rehabilitation Project: 
 

Status – Construction Phase 

Project Budget – $1,650,000 

Estimated Completion Date – December 2016 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem C 

October 2016 – Development/Project Status Report 

Page 9 

 

 

The Airside Garden Rehabilitation Project is a budgeted FY16 capital project and 

includes the replacement of much of the landscape and hardscape surfaces in the 

airside garden. Other work includes repair/ rehab of the airside fountains, irrigation 

system, and exterior lighting in the garden area. Work will follow the adopted 

Landscape Master Plan concepts. 

 

The design phase will be led by WK Dickson who is supported by Seamon Whiteside 

and several other specialty sub-consultants. The general contractor for this project is 

Mavin Construction. Mavin is supported by Shurburtt Group, Inc. for the landscape 

portion of the project. The contractor is currently working on the concrete hardscape 

surfaces, plant installation and fountains simultaneously. The project is on schedule to 

be completed in December. 

 
Consolidated Hangars Project: 
 

Status – Bidding Phase 

Project Budget – $8,903,000 

Estimated Completion Date – September 2017 (design phase) 

 

The Consolidated Hangars Project was approved in May 2016 and includes construction 

of a new Corporate Hangar for lease (approximately 16,000 sq. ft.) and a new Bulk 

Storage Hangar (up to 30,000 sq. ft.). The design is led by AVCON/McMillan Pazdan 

Smith. The project is currently out for bid with pre-qualified general contractors. 

 
Runion Property Sewer Project: 
 

Status – Construction Phase 

Project Budget – $250,000  

Estimated Completion Date – November 2016 

 

The Runion Property Sewer Project is a FY16 budgeted project and includes connecting 

the Runion commercial property to the airport sewer system. WK Dickson assisted the 

District with the engineering work. The contractor is Pump Systems. Final construction 

items are in process and the project is scheduled to be completed in November. 

 
Rental Car Service Center Roof Replacement Project: 
 

Status – Construction Phase 

Project Budget – $400,000 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem C 

October 2016 – Development/Project Status Report 

Page 10 

 

Estimated Completion Date – November 2016 

 

The Rental Car Service Roof Replacement Project is an emergency repair and 

replacement project and includes reroofing all five rental car service centers. The 

contractor is Mecklenburg Roofing. Final construction items are underway and the 

project is scheduled to be completed in November. 
 
Emergency Call Station Project: 
 

Status – Construction Phase 

Budget – $200,000 

Estimated Completion Date – TBD 

 

The Emergency Call Station Project involves the installation of emergency call stations 

in the Economy Lot, Daily Surface Lot, and at all levels of the two parking garages. A 

Request for Proposals (RFP) was produced with the assistance of Michael Baker 

International and the Faith Group. One proposal was received from SDI  (current GSP 

security system contractor). Contract documents are being finalized and a Notice to 

Proceed will be issued to SDI  shortly.  

 
2102 GSP Drive Hangar Project (PSA MRO Hangar) : 
 

Status – Bidding Phase 

Budget – $1,600,000 

Estimated Completion Date – TBD 

 

The 2102 GSP Drive Hangar Project includes the renovations and improvements 

necessary for the PSA MRO Hangar. Design is being led Michael Baker International 

who is supported by several local area engineering firms. Bidding is underway with pre-

qualified general contractors. 

 
Airport Master Plan: 
 

Status – Contract Negotiation 

Project Budget – $1,000,000 

Estimated Completion Date – 12 to 18 months 

 

The Airport Master Plan is a budgeted FY17 capital project. The last GSP Master Plan 

was conducted in 2003. An RFQ process was completed. McFarland Johnson was 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem C 

October 2016 – Development/Project Status Report 

Page 11 

 

determined to be the first ranked firm/ team. Currently the scope and fee agreement is 

being finalized. Project kick off is tentatively scheduled for December 2016.  

 

 

 



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: Rosylin Weston, Vice President - Communications 

 

DATE: November 21, 2016 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – I nformation Section I tem D 
 
October 2016 – Communications Status Report 

 

News Stories Broadcast, Print and Online 10/ 01/ 16-10/ 31/ 16: 
 

• Spartanburg Herald Journal – GSP Creates I ts Own Fixed-Based Operations 

• Spartanburg Herald Journal – GSP Partners with Tryon Equestrian Center 

• Spartanburg Herald Journal – GSP Loses Amazon Prime Bid 

• Spartanburg Herald Journal – Outgoing FBO Operator Disappointed 

• Upstate Business Journal – GSP Loses out to Charlotte for Amazon Prime Air 

• Upstate Business Journal – GSP Unveils Self-Run Fixed Based Operator 

• GreerToday – Gibbs Cancer Research Institute in Greer was Calculated on Access 

to GSP International Airport 

• WSPA TV 7 – How to Avoid a False Uber Driver 

• The Greenville News – GSP Creates A New Division to Service Aircraft 

 
Public Relations Summary 10/ 01/ 16-10/ 31/ 16: 
 
The Communications Team working in conjunction with Aviation Services and Crawford 

Strategy to complete the creative work a new brand for GSP’s Aviation Services 

Department.  This work included the creation of 3 logos – Cerulean Aviation, Cerulean 

Commercial Aviation and Cerulean General Aviation, a Brand Standards Manuel and the 

first draft of a Communications Strategy.  The team also wrote and produced a mini 

video introducing the Cerulean Aviation brand. The brand was officially launched on 

October 5, 2016 with two events. 

• Employee Luncheon –This event took place inside the FIS facility and was 

designed to introduce Cerulean Aviation to our employees before the public 

announcement. Approximately 120 employees attended and each received a 

Cerulean Aviation long-sleeved tee shirt and a Cerulean Crayola crayon. 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem D 

October 2016 – Communications Status Report 

Page 2 

  

• Community Event – This event took place at the current GA terminal. 

Approximately 75 community leaders attended and each received a Cerulean 

Aviation long sleeved tee shirt.  Members of the local media were also in 

attendance for the introduction of Cerulean Aviation  

 
Community Relations 10/ 01/ 16 – 10/ 31/ 16: 
 

• Planning for the first GSP Community Garden is progressing.  We currently have 

three partners who have pledged involvement in the garden – two tenants; Delta 

Airlines and American Airlines and one outside organization, Pelham Medical 

Center.  A meeting is planned with Pelham Medical Center to discuss the extent 

of their desired involvement.  The first planting is scheduled for February.  We 

applied for and received a batch of seeds through the Seed Fairy Program at 

Clemson University. 
• Introducing the new Teacher Mini-Grant Program – This program joins GSP 

Airport District, Greenville County School District, Spartanburg County School 

District 7 and both Downtown Rotary Clubs of Greenville and Spartanburg and 

FedEx. Geared toward grades 6-8, the intent of this program is to encourage the 

teaching of aviation and community service.  Teachers apply to the program and 

those selected receive a mini grant to assist in the delivery of programmatic 

elements of a curriculum focused on aviation and community service. The two 

schools selected for this school year are Fisher Middle School (Greenville) and 

McCracken Middle School (Spartanburg) The program includes a field trip to GSP 

International Airport. 
• Members of the communications team and GSP human resources team attended 

a two-day seventh grade career day at the TD Convention Center.  
• GSP Airport District was the VIP Tent Sponsor for Fall for Greenville October 14-

16.  Guests inside the VIP tent received a GSP Umbrella and were exposed to the 

latest GSP commercial which ran in a loop formation for the entire weekend 

event.   
 

Online Statistics 10/ 01/ 16– 10/ 31/ 16:  
 
Elevatingtheupstate.com 

• 216 Sessions, 140 users 

• Average session duration 2:07 

• Pages viewed per session 2.19 

Elevatingtheupstate.com (Mobile Site)  
• 112 Sessions, 106 New Visitors 

• Most visitors were women 65.9%  



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem D 

October 2016 – Communications Status Report 

Page 3 

  

GSPAirport.com   
• 89,969 Sessions, 69,586 were new visitors  

• Average time on page:32 

• Total number of Page Views 287,329 

Top Twitter Posts/ Followers 
• GSP International turns 54 

• No to the Samsung Galaxy Note 7 

• 5,192 Followers 

Facebook 
• 661 Page Views 

• 137 New Page Likes 

• 8,156 Total Page Likes 

Top Facebook Posts 
• GSP Police Officers support Jacob Hall (Reached 4,578 people, generated 249 

post clicks and 222 likes, comments and shares 
• The Galaxy Note 7 Ban (Reached 2,566 people, generated 64 post clicks and 30 

likes, comments and shares 
 

Art I n The Airport I nstallation Update: 
Upcountry by Melissa Anderson (July) 

Ode to the Great Carolina Wren and Exotic Birds by Arthur Stern (July) 

Thread by Amy Baur (August) 

Waterfall of Light by Dimitar Lukanov (September –Received but not installed) 

The Quilt by Evelyn Rosenberg (September) 

River Bank and Autumn at Table Rock by Joan Weissman (November) 

Souvenir of a Mountain Garden by Michael Krondl (November) 

 

 

 



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: Scott C. Carr, A.A.E., Vice President – Commercial Business and Properties 

 

DATE: November 21, 2016 

___________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – I nformation Section I tem E 
 
October 2016 – Commercial Business and Properties Report 

 
SUMMARY 
 
Concessions Program Development – Grand Hall Phase: 
 
Status –  Dunkin Donuts, Baskin Robbins, Hudson, and Tech-On-The-Go retail stores 

opened for business on October 30, 2016.  Chick-Fil-A and DC3 Dawgs preconstruction 

meeting has been completed and construction work is beginning. Plans for The Kitchen 

by Wolfgang Puck are currently under review by Spartanburg County for a building 

permit. 

Project Budget – All facility costs are included in the overall $125,000,000 TIP and all 

tenant fit out costs are being covered by Hudson News Group and OHM Concessions 

Group. 

Estimated Completion Date – January 31, 2017 

 

As part of the Grand Hall, there will be several new food, beverage, and retail offerings 

available to the traveling public. These include Baskin Robbins, Dunkin Donuts, Chick-

fil-A, and The Kitchen by Wolfgang Puck.  For retail, there will be a Hudson, Tech-on 

the-Go, as well as a retail store that has yet to be named. 

 
Concessions Program Development – New Concourse Satellite Seating Areas: 
 
Status –  Construction at both concourse locations is approximately 90%  complete.  

Project Budget – All costs are being covered by OHM Concessions Group. 

Estimated Completion Date – December 31, 2016 

 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem E 

October 2016 – Commercial Business and Properties Report 

Page 2 

  

OHM Concessions Group recognized the need for additional seating at R.J. Rockers 

Flight Room and Thomas Creek Grill.  To accomplish this, a satellite seating area is 

being added directly across from each restaurant on both concourses. 

 
Centralized Receiving and Distribution Facility (CRDF)  Project 
 

Status –  UPS relocated to North Cargo Apron and BAL is preparing to begin 

construction in the former UPS leasehold space. 

Project Budget – All operational costs will be recovered through existing 

concessionaire and tenant lease agreements. 

Estimated Completion Date – January 31, 2017 

 

Bradford Airport Logistics (BAL) will provide receiving and distribution services to all 

terminal building tenants.   This primarily includes food, beverage, and retail deliveries 

and pick up of returnable items such as empty beer kegs and outdated magazines.   In 

addition, they will handle collection of used grease for the concessionaires. 

 

All terminal building FedEx and UPS packages, office supply deliveries, etc. for terminal 

building tenants will also be handled through the CRDF located at the South Cargo 

Building.  This will remove delivery trucks from the limited space along the terminal 

building front curb, as well as eliminate the need for some of these vehicles to come 

airside to make their deliveries.    

 

AirI T – Flight I nformation Display System (FI DS) , Gate I nformation Display 
System (GI DS) , and Baggage I nformation Display System (BI DS)  I nstallation 
Project 
 
Status –  New FIDS, GIDS, and BIDS screens are currently being installed throughout 

the terminal building.   Some are brand new while others are replacements.   New flight 

information templates are being built by AirIT.  FlightView is building their new template 

for the Live Air Traffic map as well as reconfiguring the automated airline data feeds. 

Project Budget – $303,362 

Estimated Completion Date – December 15, 2016 

 
The Airport District is transitioning to AirIT for all FIDS, GIDS, and BIDS.  This will 

provide seamless integration with AirIT’s EASE software at each of the 13 gates for the 

GIDS, as well as place the BIDS and FIDS on the same software platform. 

 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem E 

October 2016 – Commercial Business and Properties Report 

Page 3 

  

AirI T – Gate I nstallation Project 
 
Status –  Twelve of thirteen gates completed 

Project Budget – $173,860 

Estimated Completion Date – December 16, 2016 

 

As each gate is taken out of service for TIP renovations, airline’s proprietary computer 

hardware will be replaced by AirIT equipment and their Extended Airline Software 

Environment (EASE) software.   This will allow airlines to work off of any of the 13 

concourse gates.   This will ultimately increase overall gate efficiency and permit the 

Airport District to more adequately address irregular operations, airline schedule 

changes in the number of flights at peak hours, etc. 

 

AirI T – Paging I nstallation Project 
 
Status –  All new speakers have been installed by the terminal building contractor.  

Staff is awaiting IED, a paging subcontractor to AirIT, to schedule their onsite visit to 

begin installing the new headend paging equipment.   

Project Budget – $471,683 

Estimated Completion Date – December 31, 2016 

 

The Airport District is transitioning to AirIT and IED’s paging system.  This will provide 

seamless integration with AirIT’s other software programs in use at the airport (i.e. 

EASE, BIDS, FIDS, GIDS, etc.) and place them on the same software platform.  This will 

allow the airport to provide automated flight information announcements and other 

customer service enhancements for the benefit of the traveling public. 

 
Cell Phone Lot – WiFi I nstallation Project:  
 
Status –  All equipment has been procured and installation work is scheduled. 

Project Budget – $7,500 

Estimated Completion Date – November 30, 2016 

 

This project will provide WiFi access to individuals who are waiting in the cell phone lot 

to pick up passengers at the terminal building.  I t is a customer service enhancement 

that is being provided for a relatively low cost since network connectivity is already in 

place for the flight information display board located in this temporary parking area. 

 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem E 

October 2016 – Commercial Business and Properties Report 

Page 4 

  

Fixed Base Operator (FBO) – Fiber Enhancement and Replacement Project: 
 

Status –  New fiber pulled and awaiting terminations on both ends to be completed. 

Project Budget – $38,000 

Estimated Completion Date – December 1, 2016 

 

The existing fiber optics cable running between the Airport District Office and the FBO 

complex is failing.  This project will pull a new 48 strand single mode and a new 24 

strand multimode fiber optic cable in the existing underground conduit next to the 

existing cable. 

 

This will provide plentiful network connectivity for the Airport District’s IT infrastructure 

associated with operating the FBO.  In addition, it will provide the ability to expand the 

airport’s shared tenant services to FBO tenants.   This includes internet and telephone 

services.  Presently, there is no high speed network capability in this area of the Airport 

District campus.   

 

This project will also assist with providing more reliable security related network 

infrastructure for building and gate access control, CCTV cameras, etc.  

 

South Cargo Building – Senator I nternational I T Project 
 
Status –  All work completed 

Project Budget – Wireless access point installation costs are being covered by Senator 

International in the amount of $5,000.  The cost associated with the extension of the 

Airport District ’s Premise Distribution System covered by the Airport District is $7,500. 

Completion Date – October 31, 2016 

 

The Airport District will extend its Premise Distribution System (PDS) and install wireless 

access points in Suites # 1 and # 2 at the South Cargo Building.   This will support 

scanning of items for Senator International by the Airport District’s Aviation Services 

Group (ASG). 

 

In addition, the extension of the PDS will provide ASG with the required computer and 

telephone network infrastructure needed to support Senator International as well as 

other cargo operations in Suites # 2 and # 4.  

 

 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem E 

October 2016 – Commercial Business and Properties Report 

Page 5 

  

Turner Broadcasting Network – CNN Airport Network Project: 
 
Status –  Site walk-through completed on October 20, 2016.  Contract negotiations are 

underway. 

Project Budget – All installation costs are being covered by Turner Broadcasting 

Network/CNN Airport Network. 

Estimated Completion Date – To Be Determined 

 

Turner Broadcasting Network is offering to install their CNN Airport Network product in 

the concourse hold rooms to help provide an additional level of customer service to the 

traveling public.  Based on current negotiations, the Airport District would receive six 

minutes of advertising space each hour to either sell or use for marketing of the Airport.   

As an example, the current 30 second TV commercial that is running on WYFF, WSPA, 

and WLOS could air up to 12 times each hour in between CNN’s programming. 

 

Turner Broadcasting Network – Cartoon Network Project: 
 
Status –  Discussions/negotiations are ongoing.  Airport District network requirements 

are still under review. 

Project Budget – All installation costs would be covered by Turner Broadcasting 

Network/Cartoon Network. The Airport District would have to provide network 

bandwidth to support the live streaming capability required for multiple users which 

may result in an ongoing operational cost. 

Estimated Completion Date – To Be Determined 

 

Turner Broadcasting Network is exploring the idea of providing children with the 

Cartoon Network and other children’s programming via the Airport District’s WiFi 

network to any WiFi capable device (i.e. computers, smart phones, tablets).  This would 

be free of charge and would help keep children occupied while wait ing for their flight on 

the concourses. 

 

Hollycrest Bed & Biscuit – Pet Hotel Program: 
 

Status –  Currently working on dual branded marketing materials but services are 

presently available to travelers.   Hollycrest Bed & Biscuit is offering a discount if 

passengers show their GSP boarding passes. They are keeping track to measure 

success or usage of the program.   

Project Budget – All operational costs will be covered by the service provider.  

Estimated Completion Date – December 15, 2016 

 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem E 

October 2016 – Commercial Business and Properties Report 

Page 6 

  

To help provide a full line of services to the traveling public, the Airport District has 

reached out to several local pet kennels regarding pet boarding services to passengers. 

 

Lyft – Transportation Network Company (TNC)  Service: 
 

Status –  TNC operating agreement awaiting execution by Lyft. 

Project Budget – All operational costs will be covered by the service provider.  

Estimated Completion Date – March 31, 2017 

 

Lyft is beginning to open up service in various communities throughout South Carolina.   

They recently started service in Charleston and have plans to expand into the Upstate, 

including at the airport, in first quarter of 2017. 

 

TD Bank – ATM I nstallation Project: 
 
Status –  All work completed 

Project Budget – All installation and operational costs will be covered by the service 

provider.  

Completion Date – October 26, 2016 

 

As part of the Airport District’s recent change for financial services, TD Bank is installing 

three ATM’s in the terminal building.   This includes one on each concourse and one 

located in baggage claim. 

 

These will replace the two ATM’s currently located in baggage claim and the rental car 

facility. 

 

Valet Parking Program: 
 

Status –  Currently reviewing proposals from various operators 

Project Budget – All operational costs will be covered by the selected operator.  

Estimated Completion Date – January 15, 2017 

 

In order to better compete with surrounding airports, as well as meet the needs of the 

traveling public, the Airport District has met with a few valet parking operators.  This 

will be a one year trial program to see how well the valet service is utilized and if they 

will be a customer. 

 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem E 

October 2016 – Commercial Business and Properties Report 

Page 7 

  

National Business Aviation Association – Annual Convention & Exhibition 
 

Status –  Had a successful conference and beginning planning for next year 

Project Budget – $25,000 

Completion Date – November 3, 2016 

 

The National Business Aviation Association Convention & Exhibition Ranked has been 

ranked as the sixth largest trade show in the United States and invites industry 

professionals, including current and prospective aircraft owners, manufacturers, and 

related aviation customers, from all over.   The event took place November 1–3, 2016 

in Orlando, Florida. 

 

At this event, the Airport District had an exhibit to market the recently unveiled 

Cerulean Aviation FBO brand and GSP360 land development program.   

 

AT&T Wireless – Cell Phone Antenna Equipment Upgrade & Capacity 
Enhancement Project: 
 

Status – Plans and specifications are currently under review for comment and/or 

approval. 

Project Budget – All costs are being covered by AT&T. 

Estimated Completion Date – December 31, 2016 

 

AT&T is in the process of upgrading the existing antenna equipment located on top of 

Parking Garage A.  The project also includes an increase in network capacity to handle 

increased call volume in the area and reduce the number of dropped and failed calls. 

 

National Weather Service/ I nterior Renovation & Parking Lot Expansion 
Project: 
 
Status –  Awaiting plans and specifications for review 

Project Budget – All costs are being covered by the National Weather Service. 

Estimated Completion Date – To Be Determined 

 

The National Weather Service is in the process of developing plans and specifications 

for the renovation of the interior leasehold space in their building as well as the creation 

of some additional parking lot space for their maintenance vehicles. 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section I tem E 

October 2016 – Commercial Business and Properties Report 

Page 8 

  

FedEx – AT&T Network Based I P/ VPN Remote Access (ANI RA)  I nstallation 
Project: 
 

Status –  Awaiting plans and specifications for review 

Project Budget – All costs are being covered by FedEx. 

Estimated Completion Date – To Be Determined 

 

FedEx is requesting to install a backup cellular system for their local data network to 

provide redundancy in the event that their wired data connection is interrupted.  This 

project will be engineered and installed on behalf of FedEx by AT&T. 

 

FedEx – Customer Service Lobby Renovation & Exterior Signage Replacement 
Project: 
 

Status –  Construction document comments have been submitted to the FedEx 

consultant for incorporation into the drawings. 

Project Budget – All costs are being covered by FedEx. 

Estimated Completion Date – To Be Determined 

 

FedEx is proposing to completely renovate its customer service lobby with new 

millwork, carpeting, wall coverings, branding, etc.   In addition, it is planning to replace 

the exterior building signage with its updated branding.   

 

 

 



 

2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

 

FROM: Marsha Madore, Human Resources Director 

 

DATE: November 21, 2016 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

I TEM DESCRI PTI ON – I nformation Section I tem F 
 
October 2016 – OSHA Reportable Injury Report 

 

SUMMARY 
 

Monthly Activity as of October 31, 2016  

 

• No OSHA Reportable Injuries  

 

2016 Calendar Year-to-Date  

 

• 5 OSHA Reportable Injuries 

 

2 Year Historical Annual OSHA Report Submissions: 

 
 
 

Calendar 
Year 

 
 

Annual 
Average #  
Employees 

 
Total Hours 
Worked by 

all 
Employees 

#  OSHA 
Reportable 

Work 
Related 
I njuries 

#  OSHA 
Reportable 

Work 
Related 

I llnesses 

 
 

#  Days 
away from 

Work 

2015 127 192,332 3 0 16 

2014 124 202,496 6 0 81 

 






































	Agenda 20161121
	Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission September 8, 2016 Regular Meeting Minutes 20161121
	Presentation Item A - Retail Concessions and Parking Program Updates 20161121
	NB Item A - Acceptance of GSP International Airport Financial Audit and Schedules of Expenditures for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, and Report of Independent Auditor 20161121
	NB Item B - Approval of Lease Terms for Alamo/National Rental Car Concessions Agreement Amendment #1 and Associated Construction Project Funding 20161121
	NB Item C - Approval of Lease Terms/Agreement for CenterPoint Properties Ground Lease 20161121
	Info Section A - September 2016 - Traffic Report 20161121
	Info Section A - September 2016 - Traffic Report Stats 20161121
	GSP Monthly Traffic Report
	Airline Enp-Seat-LF - Report
	Enp by Year by Month - Bar Chart
	Seats by Year by Month - Bar Chart
	LF by Year by Month - Bar Chart
	Total Pax by Year by Month - Bar Chart
	Airline Market Share - Pie Chart
	Airline Completion - Report

	Info Section B - September 2016 - Financial Report 20161121
	Info Section B - September 2016 - Financial Report Statement Package 20161121
	Info Section C - October 2016 - Development/Project Status Report 20161121
	Info Section D - October 2016 - Communications Status Report 20161121
	Info Section E - October 2016 - Commercial Business and Properties Report 20161121
	Info Section F - October 2016 - OSHA Reportable Injury Report 20161121
	Info Section G - Industry Presentation(s) - Article(s) of Interest 20161121
	American Will Trim Some Flights As Part Of 'Rebanking' Its PHL Hub
	Airline Cutbacks Hit Smaller Airports Hard
	Fake Service Animals - Why Airline Passengers Are Upset
	Airport Crowds Projected to Grow 2.5% for Thanksgiving Holiday
	Spirit Airlines Arrives At Akron-Canton Airport; CEO Sees Strong Room For Growth
	Expansion of TSA PreCheck Program Suffers Setback
	2018 World Equestrian Games Likely to Have Wide Impact
	New BMW Link with South Carolina
	B747-400F Service Between Germany and South Carolina


